





Korean Peace: Framing the Nexus of Movements, Identity and Peace

Samuel Park

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MA Erasmus Mundus Human Rights Practice and Policy Masters Programme

School of Global Studies, University of Gothenburg
Pedro Arrupe Human Rights Institute, Deusto University
School of Humanities and Social Sciences, University of Roehampton
Department of Social Sciences, University of Tromsø – Arctic University of Norway

23 May 2024

Dissertation Module (30 ECT)

Supervisor: Jassi Sandhar

Spring semester 2024

Abstract:

The Korean War never officially ended, resulting in continued hostilities on the Korean Peninsula for over 70 years. International state-led diplomatic talks have achieved little success in reducing tensions. In these failures, there has been a grassroots social movement voicing demands for peace in the region. However, perspectives from this movement have not been given much consideration, thus, this thesis explores perspectives of Korean-identified activists involved in the Korean peace movement. Semi-structured interviews and thematic analysis were used to identity three overarching frames – *han*, *jeong*, and rights talk – which inform the activists' views on conditions in the Korean Peninsula and their approaches to peace activism. Drawing on framing theory, as understood in social movement studies, these frames were analyzed in their three core framing tasks – diagnosis, motivation, and prognosis. Findings show a cultural context for peace activism, based in historical injustices, and centered around Korean identity. Peace is interpreted not as an end goal, but as a means to a right for greater self-determination.

Word count: 17,344

Key words:

Peace, peacebuilding, social movements, framing theory, human rights, Korea

Acknowledgments:

I would like to thank my advisor, Jassi Sandhar, for her insights throughout the research and writing process and her persistent encouragement. I would also like to thank the Korean activists that spoke with me for taking the time to share their life experiences and depth of knowledge. I owe this research to them and their tireless work to see peace on the Korean Peninsula hopefully in our lifetime.

Table of Contents

1.	Intro	duction	4		
	1.1.	Contextualizing the Korean Peninsula.	5		
2.	Litera	ature Review	8		
2	2.1.	International Relations	9		
2	2.2.	Peace and Conflict Studies	11		
2	2.3.	A Decisive Gap	12		
3.	Theo	ry	14		
2	3.1.	Social movement studies	14		
2	3.2.	Framing theory	16		
2	3.3.	Research Question.	18		
4.	Meth	odology	19		
4	4.1.	Methods	19		
4	4.2.	Data Analysis	21		
4	4.3.	Ethical Considerations and Positionality	22		
5.	Findings		24		
	5.1.	Han	26		
	5.1.1.	Legacies of Injustice	26		
	5.1.2.	Resistance Against American Influence	29		
	5.2.	Jeong	31		
	5.2.1.	Thawing Relations with North Koreans	32		
	5.2.2.	DMZ	34		
	5.3.	Rights Talk	36		
	5.3.1.	Right to Self-Determination	36		
	5.3.2.	Censorship	37		
	5.3.3.	North Korean Human Rights	38		
6.	Discu	ıssion	39		
(5.1.	Framing tasks	40		
(5.2.	Perspectives from the bottom-up	43		
7.	Conc	lusion	45		
,	7.1. Fur	ther Research	48		
D a	afarances				

1. Introduction

When South Korea hosted the 2018 Winter Olympics, also regarded as the "Peace Games" (McCurry, 2018), peace and hope became the central themes of the sporting event. This was most evident in the opening ceremony as South and North Korea walked together under a unified Korea banner for the first time since 2006. The two countries would go on to compete together under this flag in the women's ice hockey competition for the Olympic games. Global news coverage anticipated a new era of peace and diplomacy for the region with belief that the Olympics signified progress in talks for reunification of the two countries (English and Murray, 2024). However, in his speech to the Supreme People's Assembly in December 2023, Kim Jung Un, the ruling leader of North Korea declared for the first time ever that North Korea would no longer support reunification moving forward with South Korea (Shin and Smith, 2024). This departure from a position of unification has not been seen before in the past 70 years after the partition of the peninsula. An anti-reunification stance is then considered a threat to peace and escalation in hostilities. However, this announcement perhaps is not a shock to many that are observing already hostile conditions in the region with the US increasing military arms in South Korea and greater deployment of troops (Yim, 2024).

With the latest address from the North Korean leader, peace processes for the Peninsula are at a standstill, halting state-level diplomatic talks once again. As news coverage and political conversations continue to focus on these international state dynamics, little consideration has been given to the people at a local level and the collection actions taken throughout this peace process. Current forms of activism have proven to shape politics on the Korean Peninsula and impact relations between North and South Korea, and international dynamics between the Koreas with larger state powers like the US (Chung, 2011). However, research on peace has not meaningfully examined the role that social movements can play in building towards peace. Understanding how grassroots-level actors navigate these complexities is necessary to formulating more nuanced approaches to peace moving forward, considering the limits that stateled approaches have faced so far. I intend to lay the groundwork to bridge that gap through this exploratory study.

Therefore, this thesis will investigate perspectives from activists involved in the social movement for Korean peace. I will highlight key themes that arise for these participants and explore how these themes are framed in the peace movement. Following a brief historical and political contextualization of the Korean Peninsula in this first chapter, I present the development of studies on peace and conflict in Chapter 2 and explain the call for a new shift towards a more localized analysis of peacebuilding in relation to people affected by conflict. I argue that, despite this call, there have not been meaningful methodological suggestions to facilitate this shift. Considering this gap, I follow up in Chapter 3 with an introduction to social movement studies and framing theory as models to analyze perspectives of social movement participants. Then, in Chapter 4, I explain the relevance of thematic analysis for my methodology and describe the methods of the study itself. I present my findings in Chapter 5 and analyze the data to answer my research questions in Chapter 6. Chapter 7 is where I conclude my study and highlight relevance to human rights and further research considerations.

1.1. Contextualizing the Korean Peninsula

With the fall of Japanese colonial rule in the Manchuria region at the end of World War II in 1945, the United States and the Soviet Union rushed in to claim their stake on this territory. The peninsula once more became occupied and split along the 38th line of latitude with the US occupying the south and the Soviets in the north (Cockburn, 2012, p. 181). Soon after, the US military controlled government brought in Syngman Rhee – an anti-communist Korean living in Washington DC – to establish the Republic of Korea (RoK) (Chang, 2020), while the Soviets pushed for the election of Kim Il-Sung – formerly a guerilla fighter against the Japanese that became pro-Soviet – in the development of the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) (Cumings, 2015, p. 73).

Ideological and political differences obstructed reunification and the peninsula served as a site for one of many proxy conflicts in the Cold War era between superpowers. The Korean War of 1950-53 cemented the division of the peninsula, separating thousands of families and splitting the ethnic Korean people across two states. The end of the Korean War in 1953 resulted in an armistice calling for a temporary ceasefire, signed by China, North Korea, and the United States without South Korea as a signatory (Kim, 2023, p. 141). The Syngman Rhee

administration opposed the ceasefire because they aspired to continue with the military campaign into North Korea (Lee, 2013, p. 184). The armistice had a significant impact in pausing immediate violence and formalized the Demilitarized Zone (DMZ) as the border between North and South Korea. A peace treaty was expected to replace the armistice but failed numerous times, meaning that the Korean peninsula technically is still in a state of war (Choi, 2007; Kim, 2023). Both North Korean and American signatories have violated the armistice numerous times over the years, with these violations named by both parties as reasons for delaying unification or pausing conversations on peace talks (Lee, 2013).

With these states still at war, Korean people have suffered immensely and still suffer from numerous human rights violations by both states in the name of greater security from the other Korean state. It is well known that North Koreans have endured strict authoritarian rule. Their government has come under scrutiny often from many human rights groups about its treatment towards its own people. However, below the DMZ, South Koreans endured similar hardships well into the 1980s under military dictatorships where social movements were repeatedly suppressed. Even today, the South Korean government enforces harsh censorship rules that stifle political activity and freedom of speech and thought. Additionally, with the construction of the DMZ as a border, restrictions on the right to movement for the Korean people became inevitable and painful considering the fact that thousands of families were forcibly divided because of the War. Families that were split by the Korean War have remained divided for seventy years now and are denied the right to see each other, except for special and rare exceptions by both governments. Diplomatic efforts to assuage tensions and reconcile political differences have been key in addressing these harmful violations and improving conditions for all Koreans.

Since the 1960s, waves of conversations between the two governments to reconcile differences have led various peaks such as the 1972 joint communique on the three principles to peaceful unification (McCormack, 1982, p. 28), the 1998 Sunshine Policy of South Korea (citation), Joint Declaration of 15 June 2000 (Cockburn, 2012, p. 187), the 2003-2007 six party talks (Cockburn, 2012, p. 186), and the 2018 Panmunjeom Declaration and Pyongyang Joint Declaration. However, the North and South governments have held clashing approaches towards reunification which have consistently led to interruptions in these hopeful peaks. The North prioritizes a "revolutionary unification" (McCormack, 1982, p. 15) while the South values an

incremental stage approach (Kwak, 1990, p. 175). Commentary on these failures are informed by a bias that usually focuses blame on North Korea without consideration for greater geopolitical factors or South Korea's actions as well (Murray, 2020; Seo, 2009). Ultimately, historical strategies towards reunion have envisioned collapse and full absorption of one side into the other's political regime, with a particular inaccurate expectation of North Korea's demise (Cumings, 2015; Grzelczyk, 2019, p. 32). And yet still, both Article 3 of the South Korean constitution and Article 1 of the North Korean constitution extend their application across the entire peninsula. Rather than a sign of domination, these articles perhaps allude to a broader identity of the collective people and maintain a connection across the peninsula.

Peace for the Korean people is historically and culturally bound with conversations around reunification that both escalate and de-escalate conflict in the peninsula (Shin, 2017). Reunification remains a central demand for many in North Korea, South Korea, and the diaspora, despite disagreements on how to achieve that goal (Lee, 2020; McCormack, 1982). Lee and Lee (2019) point out that reunification contains a multitude of meanings, i.e. the "geographical integration on the Korean Peninsula, the construction of one political and economic systems of Korea, or social and cultural integration of North and South Koreans" (p. 295) and that these nuances are difficult to capture in general polling. And as previously mentioned, the methods to unification are varied and can call for hostile approaches such as absorption which only escalate further conflict. Despite that challenge, polls on attitudes of South Koreans towards reunification are frequently collected and continue to demonstrate a popular desire for this process (Jiyoon et al., 2018). For example, 78% of South Koreans in a 2018 survey supported reunification "to eliminate the threat of war" (Lee and Lee, 2019, p. 302). Another survey conducted in 2019 showed that only 13.7% of participants explicitly opposed unification of the peninsula (Lee, 2020, p. 21). Ultimately, most polls show that most Koreans in the South continue to support a unified Korea, although reasons may differ across generations and political leanings (Jiyoon et al., 2018; Lee, 2020).

As the Korean War was in fact, an international war, foreign players are central to the conflict in this region – particularly the United States. With the peninsula still in a state of war, the United States has been allowed to heavily militarize the southern zone under the premise of security and defense (Lee, 2013). In fact, the US began to ship nuclear arms to South Korea starting in 1958, a violation of the armistice agreement signed just five years previously (Lee,

2013, p. 194). One of North Korea's main stipulations for peace is the withdrawal of the US military from South Korea for any peace talks to make meaningful strides (McCormack, 1982, p. 30). Because South Korea was not a signatory to the ceasefire armistice agreement, any peace agreement for the peninsula would require negotiations between North Korea and the United States to end formal hostilities (Congressional Research Service, 2018). However, since the 50s, the United States has not supported any peace agreement or peaceful strategies towards reunification, believing that peaceful advancements between the two Koreas would mean that the "U.S. military forces would have to leave" (Hong, 2002, p. 1250) and diminish US influence in the region. This unresolved conflict remains entrenched in larger geopolitical dynamics because of the global interests of larger foreign states in the region (Lee, 2023).

2. Literature Review

The Korean Peninsula still "remains politically and geographically divided" after 70 years and is considered one of the last vestiges leftover "after the end of the East-West Cold War" (Choung, 2021, p. 18). The decades of hostile tensions in the region, enveloped within larger geopolitical dynamics, has led to an extensive array of literature across various academic fields. Scholars have explored impacts of the Korean War (Cumings, 1989; Grinker, 1998), historical analysis of unification efforts (McCormack, 1982; Choi 2007), the DMZ (Kim, 2016), the role of foreign states and international bodies (Lee, 2013; Ban, 2021), security paradigms and nuclear diplomacy (Wit et al., 2004), and nationalist political identity (Shin and Chang, 2004). While literature has been abundant, policymakers and scholars alike often operated with an assumption that the North Korean government would inevitably fall, resulting in biased analyses and incorrect speculations (Harrison, 2002; Byman and Lind, 2010). Consensus around its staying power now requires "a change in scholarship" because "it is no longer appropriate to speak of an imminent North Korean collapse" (Grzelczyk, 2019, p. 32). Continued hostilities between the Koreas also means a continuation of hostile conditions that harm the Korean people. Research on peace and reconciliation in the region then warrants even greater significance and relevance today.

International law scholars have productively interrogated the legal conditions that peace has to be built upon in the Korean Peninsula. According to Kim (2023), "contemporary scholars agree that an armistice", like the Armistice Agreement of 1953, "ceases hostilities but does not entirely terminate the war" (p. 134). With the official status of a war unended, this means that "new justification to use force is not required" (p. 130) and establishes an environment of tension even if there is no active armed conflict. Various domestic declarations have been agreed upon by the two Korean governments numerous times, however, legal interpretations of armistice agreements signify the necessity of a formal peace treaty to shift the legal landscape that enables hostilities to this day. While legal interpretations have established a potential goal for realizing peace in the region, processes towards peace are not only legal matters but also complicated political ones as well. For example, historians have shown that state signatories to the Armistice Agreement have violated the agreement numerous times over the decades, setting a precedent of distrust and lack of confidence (Lee, 2013; McCormack, 1982). Another important consideration for a Korean peace treaty is that in accordance with the Armistice Agreement, the "US will be a signatory as a representative of the unified command" (p. 150). By legally necessitating the involvement of international foreign states, a political understanding of international relations beyond the scope of legal studies must be considered as well.

2.1. International Relations

International political factors, such as the US-China rivalry, play a prominent role for peace negotiations between the Koreas and have been an obstacle at times as well (Park, 2020). The understanding of this complexity has resulted in examinations of peace and conflict in the Korean Peninsula predominantly through the field of international relations. International relations are often approached theoretically through a realist lens or a liberal lens. The realist school of thought operates with the "assumption that the world is a large anarchic space" (Park, 2022, p. 11) meaning that states must be self interested in order to survive. Military power because the innate aspiration for states and national security becomes the primary focus of relations between states. Peace can only be "characterized as the absence of war" (Kim et al., 2007, p. 296) or a "negative peace achieved through balance of [military] power" (Kim, 2019, p. 45). This theory interprets conflict in the Korean Peninsula as part of intrinsic violent traits of

states and attributes blame solely then to matters of military actions without interrogating possible legitimate motivations (Hwang, 2011). Scholars like Maxwell (2015) then conclude that because states like North Korea cannot be shifted away from military power, forced regime change is the only response to addressing conflict. Less egregious conclusions are also made that still center peace negotiations solely around military power balancing (Shin, 2020). Kang (2003) and numerous other international relations scholars heavily criticize this theory, claiming that the realist theory does not accurately describe the conflict in the Korean Peninsula, and that this will "only lead to a regressive path of deterioration of the security dilemma, further away from instating peace on the Korean peninsula" (Koo, 2011, p. 113).

These scholars alternatively argue for a liberalist perspective in international relations, which assumes that "peace is the natural state of human affairs" (Kim et al., 2007, p. 296) and that states are willing to cooperate with each other outside of national security motivations. It rests upon "the spirit of international organisation (internationalism, democracy and trade)" (Richmond, 2008, p. 22). International relations scholars have also noted that more liberal states with more open economies and democratic institutions tend to experience less conflict (Oneal and Russett, 2001). From this observation, liberalists then suggest that "interstate political systems, economic interdependence, and the institutionalization of cooperation offer the possibility of achieving democratic peace" (Park, 2022, p. 13). This is why industries such as tourism to the DMZ are framed positively as contributing to peace processes in Korea (Bigley et al., 2010). These types of activities in liberal international relations have developed into a theory known as liberal peace theory, which encompasses "democratisation, the rule of law, human rights, free and globalised markets, and neo-liberal development" as means for addressing conflict between states. South Korea adopted a liberal approach for a time starting in 1998 with its "Sunshine Policy", pursuing economic cooperation with North Korea through railway construction plans, investment agreements, and a South Korean corporate center north of the DMZ (Kwak, 2002). Kwak goes on to argue that "as its [North Korean] economic structure begins to change under the impact of market-oriented economic policies and increased contacts with the outside world, its political and social structure is bound to change" (p. 9), affirming a liberal approach in reconciliation with North Korea.

2.2. Peace and Conflict Studies

But because the "liberal peace framework... implicitly emerged in mainstream IR theory" (Richmond, 2008, p. 97), scholars called for deeper theoretical considerations focused on peace and peace issues. This theorization burgeoned into a subfield of liberal international relations called peace and conflict studies which offered new concepts and methodologies for peace processes. "Peacebuilding" was introduced by Galtung (1976) in response to realist international practices, peacekeeping and peacemaking operations, which he argued only focused on immediate conflict resolution. While peacekeeping and peacemaking efforts were effective in halting immediate military violences, as seen with the Korean Armistice Agreement, peacebuilding is a process that addresses root causes of violence in conflict ridden societies. This initial conception of peacebuilding was grounded in Galtung's earlier works which defined violence as more than just physical, but also as "structural" which leads to various "social injustices" (1969, p. 171). According to Galtung, peacekeeping and peacemaking values a "negative peace" (1969, p. 183), whereas peacebuilding aspires towards "positive peace" (p. 183) that targets root structural violences. The concept of peace is then viewed as a systemic condition that addresses social justice. The UN adopted peacebuilding into its peace operations in its 1992 report, "An Agenda for Peace", as presented by the UN Secretary-General at the time, Boutros Boutros-Ghali. In this report, he stated that peacebuilding was an essential aspect of achieving peace, as a post-conflict process to sustain peace and prevent any further violences.

However, this new turn in peace practices and studies did not address some core limitations of international relations. Despite being situated as a subfield, more critical peace and conflict scholars have advanced further criticisms of both realist and liberalist approaches. Scholars like Cox (1981) argued that peace processes in international relations detrimentally center around the state where the "general pattern of institutions and relationships is not called into question" at all (p. 129). Korean scholars like Kwak (2002) have proven that state-centered approaches for peace in the Peninsula are hampered by international diplomacy politics, noting that the US's position on North Korea "has negative effects on both US-North Korean relations and inter-Korean relations" (p. 21). Alternatively, Lederach (1997) called for new "approaches that go beyond traditional stasist diplomacy" (p. xvi). To address the root structural violences that Galtung first conceptualized, local actors have to play a crucial role in peace processes, not just state governments. Cultural contexts and "local everyday dynamics of peace" must be

considered for peacebuilding to truly be sustainable (Mac Ginty and Richmond, 2013, p. 768). Kang and Heo (2023) follow this vein in examining how ordinary Korean citizens perceive and respond to formal rhetoric around concepts like peacebuilding. They reveal how the identity and language of everyday people is instrumental and should be considered in peacebuilding efforts on the Peninsula. Kim (2019) has also gone on to affirm the importance of non-government actors, such as civil society, in breaking through the obstacles that government-led peace processes often face in Korean peace processes.

Mac Ginty and Richmond's perspective on the role of the local, however, differs from Lederach's more widely accepted positioning. Lederach recommends that peacebuilding efforts should center on "middle-range actors" because they are considered to have the "greatest potential to serve as sources of practical, immediate action" (1997, p. 61). In this regard, the turn to the local for peacebuilding processes often meant that high level civil society actors took on greater roles. Unfortunately, empirical observations have proven these "local actors" still require and lean on international interventions and operate based on conventional liberal practices, maintaining a top-down and state-centric approach for peacebuilding (Paffenholz, 2015; Leonardsson and Rudd, 2015). These scholars claim that the elitist development of these middle-range actors does not effectively or successfully target the root causes of structural violence. While they do not reject this emphasis on the local, they argue for a more "emancipatory peace" that "reopens the debate on power, peace, social justice" (Mac Ginty and Richmond, 2013, p. 78).

2.3. A Decisive Gap

The irony in peace and conflict studies advocating for the "need to listen to voices from below" (Leonardsson and Rudd, 2015) is that this field returns to concepts of peace as its main focus rather than the local actors themselves. Paffenholz (2015) states that further peace research must "move away from the binary understanding of the research subject" (p. 868), but in reality, the local actors were never truly the research subjects in the first place. Local agency and resistance to state-centric processes are understood as both "small-scale" and "large-scale mobilisation" (Mac Ginty and Richmond, 2013, p. 770), but never given proper consideration on how local agents mobilize, other than recognizing that local actors "have to become activists" (p.

776). Paffenholz (2015) rightfully critiques Mac Ginty and Richmond on failing to elaborate their conception of "resistance" but does not offer any alternative theoretical model either (p. 865). Even in Kang and Heo's (2023) study on "ordinary activists" mentioned previously, the "forms and functions of individual and collective action" (pp. 763-764) are explicitly ignored. Richmond (2006) does briefly acknowledge that social movements are a method for local communities to take ownership in the peace process but does not address this point any further (p. 301). It becomes clear that research moving forward has to hone in on these activists and better understand the social movements that they participate in to advance the peace research agenda.

Previously, peace movements have been narrowly defined with a mission "military power in particular" (Galtung, 1998, p. 402) or "national security strategies" (Hermann, 1992, p. 872). This situates them antagonistically against realist perspectives in international relations. However, their relationship to more liberal models of peacebuilding have not been explored deeply. There is minimal literature that examines the role of social movements on peace in peacebuilding processes. Nagle (2016) speculates that perhaps that this is because social movements "construct conflictual relations with clearly defined opponents" which can lie "uneasy with the goals of peacebuilding" (p. 19). However, Nagle supports my argument that peace movements can play an important role in criticizing and reforming peacebuilding practices to create positive change and positive peace.

Chung (2011) and Cockburn (2011) provide a Korean context in this gap by identifying the collective efforts of Korean grassroots activists towards peacebuilding as part of a Korean social movement for peace. By understanding local actor efforts on peacebuilding as a peace movement, resistance can be better conceptualized and centers grassroots actors as the research subject rather than peace. Both Chung's and Cockburn's case study accounts on Korean peace movements highlight that Korean peace activists are engaged not only in issues of peace but have also been engaged in issues of democratization and human rights actually. This contribution importantly contests a common divide between peacebuilding and human rights (Hvidsten and Skarstad, 2017). With the development of peace and conflict studies, an epistemological and ontological divide also developed between perceived contradictions of peacebuilding practices and human rights ideals. Case studies on conflict resolution in Bosnia and Colombia are attributed as examples of the clash between "the normative nature of human rights demands" and

the "practical requirements of making and building peace" (Parlevliet, 2017, pp. 335–336). In the context of Korea peace activists, this tension arises often regarding peace for the region and contending with human rights violations committed by the North Korean government (Cockburn, 2011, p. 201). A deeper dive into the perspectives of Korean peace activists would not only offer insight into how these activists navigate this tension, but also more broadly how the peace movement defines peacebuilding practices for themselves in a localized manner. I argue that the field of social movement studies offers important theoretical and methodological frameworks to center these activists and explore possible tensions in the cultural context through their voices and perspectives.

3. Theory

3.1. Social movement studies

Historical and modern social movements have complexities and nuances across different economic, political, and social landscapes. The academic field of social movements cemented following the American Civil Rights Movements of the 1960s in attempts to understand how movements begin and are sustained. Scholars such as Tilly (1973; 1978), McAdam (1982), and Tarrow (1991) introduced theories that presented these phenomena not as "spontaneous, unorganized, and unstructured" (Morris, 2000, p. 455), but rather, products of succinct political processes and structures embedded in societal changes. The political landscapes that activists had to navigate became compelling grounds for academic insight which was coined as political opportunity structures. Kitschelt (1986) demonstrated this in his comparative study of antinuclear social movements mobilizing in different manners across different countries.

McCarthy and Zald (1977) expanded upon this perspective by introducing resource mobilization theory which shifted research further away from a social psychology lens of analysis towards one focused on economic and political structural factors. Resource mobilization theory identified formal organizational processes and resource availability as fundamental and strategic determinants for actors in mobilizing social movements within the political opportunity structures referenced before. This sociological perspective grounded movements within a realist and structuralist epistemology that categorized actor motivations as rational responses to

economic factors to "gain entry into the polity" (Hannigan, 1985, p. 438). However, valid criticisms to this perspective highlighted a need for a more constructivist lens which accounts for cultural contexts and identity politics of participants in their movements (Buechler, 1995). Other scholars also argued that social movement studies needed to account for discourse on grievances that activists and movements claimed in their actions and campaigns (Snow et al., 1986; Zald, 1996). These criticisms grew into an alternative school of though known as new social movement theory. Frame alignment or "framing" was developed as a new theory in this social movement studies which allowed a more constructivist analysis on how participants in social movements make meaning of their actions (Benford and Snow, 2000). As a response, scholars expanded upon social movement theories to incorporate these constructivist tools and synthesized the building blocks of social movements as processes of mobilizing resources, identified political opportunities, and framing issues (McAdams et al., 1996). This model of social movement theory has been coined as "political process theory" (Morris, 2000).

While new social movement theorists attempt to shift away from the realist interpretations of activists in political process theory, various critics have suggested that even still this paradigm "has not been able to fully escape the bonds of structural determinism" (Hannigan, 1985, p. 448). New social movement theory still implicitly maintains a positivist lens in its analysis set within a postindustrial society as the realm of social movements (Vahabzadeh, 2001). The attempts of new social movement theory to distinctly situate itself within a cultural sphere away from the modern state paradoxically maintains a structuralist form of society. This alternative paradigm also traps itself within an arbitrary dichotomization between a supposed cultural and political reality (Buechler, 1995, p. 451; Vahabzadeh, 2001, p. 627). Notably though, these critiques do not call for a dismissal of new social movement theory or a revitalization of political process theory but recognize how both schools of thought reflect different aspects of social movements particularly in why movements are started and how they operate. Understanding the trajectory of social movement theories effectively highlights the necessity of researching social movements within the context of regions outside of Western countries. Criticisms of resource mobilization theories have acknowledged that political process theories were developed within the context of the United States (McCarthy and Zald, 1997, p. 1213) and new social movement theories in European contexts (Buechler, 1995, p. 460). New scholarship must recognize the unique natures of movements outside of the Western frame to

refine and navigate the limitations of their theories (Vahabzadeh, 2001, p. 624; McAdam et al., 2001, p. 305). Ultimately, the incorporation of framing concepts in political process theory, the development of the alternative new social movement theory, and critiques of both demonstrate a continued push towards a more constructivist understanding of social movements and the actors within them as societies continue to change from impactful social movements.

3.2. Framing theory

With an understanding that a constructivist approach can offer more insight into social movements seen today, I return to the "framing" activities identified by Snow et al (1986), expanding on Goffman's (1986) research on "frame analysis" – a theoretical insight into the experiences of how individuals perceive and create meaning relationally. Inspired by media and theater, Goffman explored the performances of interactions that inform our perceptions of the realities we navigate. He introduces and defines frames as "schemata of interpretation" that allow individuals to "locate, perceive, identify, and label" events through their personal lenses. Snow and other scholars like Benford (2000) apply this interpersonal social theory to the political realm in the context of movement work and these processes are developed and shared between individuals and broader organizations. Frames questions the assumptions of static interpretations of grievances and gives meaning to the processes of identifying and responding to these framed concerns. Inherently, framings in social movements build off of a fundamental understanding of an injustice occurring in society (Snow et al., 1986, p. 474; Benford and Snow, 2000, p. 616; Zald, 1996, p. 266). These injustices open windows to construct discourse that "not only differ from existing ones but may also challenge them" (Benford and Snow, 2000, p. 614). Importantly, framing is "an active, creative, constitutive process' (McAdam et al., 2001, p. 16) that is dynamic and relational between grassroots activists and the political regimes they are engaging with. Actors in social movements construct these meaningful shared experiences as constitutive people within "collective action frames" (Gamson, 1992) that are rationalized as the underpinnings of mobilization and strategies for activating campaigns. Collective action frames are also not accidental processes but meaningful negotiations between "individual and SMO interpretive orientations, such that some set of individual interests, values, and beliefs and SMO activities, goals, and ideology are congruent and complementary" (Snow et al. 1986, p. 464).

Snow et al. (1986) categorized these processes as frame bridging, amplification, extension, and transformation.

Once collective action frames are constructed through these alignment processes, they then are tasked with various functions within that strategic social movement work. Benford and Snow (2000) have categorized these tasks into three processes: diagnostic frames, motivational frames, and prognostic frames (p. 615). As previously mentioned, diagnostic frames define the problem or injustice that must be changed within a society. A key characteristic of diagnostic frames is the attributional nature of these shared claims in identifying within the injustice where the blame and responsibility should be attributed. Within social movements at transnational levels, the attribution is often shifted from "self-blaming to structural-blaming, from victimblaming to system-blaming" (Snow et al., 1986, p. 474). Effective diagnostic frames that have staying power begin to broaden into larger understandings of worldviews or ideologies presented as "master frames" (Snow and Benford, 1992). Another core task for frames is the motivational framing which gives reasoning to why people should engage with and enter social movements then. Finally, the prognostic frame serves to portray possible solutions that can address the shared injustices identified within these diagnostic frames. Prognostic frames then offer meaningful tactics and responses to identified opponents in order to address the diagnosed injustice.

It is important to remember that the production and refinement of frames "grow out of existing cultural definitions" (Zald, 1996, p. 273). As argued by new social movement theorists, social movements are built upon cultural and historical landscapes that inform the discourses and interpretations which activists claim. This cultural contextualization serves to better understand the "collective" aspect of collective action frames. The construction of an identity in relation to broader organization as a "collective identity" (Hunt and Benford, 2004, p. 437) denotes this process of aligning individual perspectives to find commonality in experiences and injustices. Understanding the unique cultural settings of the specific place better informs how certain collective action frames come about and why they are successful. Efforts to better understand these nuances outside of a "new general model" (McAdams et al., 2001, p. 305) has led to an explicit focus on the contentious nature of framing that activists require to protest the unique injustices that they face in their society.

Returning to peace and conflict studies, Richmond (2008) claims that "the peace being constructed in the various contemporary conflict zones around the world looks very different from the perspectives of local communities, polities, economies, and officials" (p. 309). Lederach (1997) then argues that any peacebuilding that works towards that constructed goal of peace must be rooted in the "experiential and subjective realities shaping people's perspectives and needs" (1997, p. 28). Social movements for peace in Korea have been present for decades (Chung, 2011), and are already voicing their perspectives on peace and peacebuilding approaches. Framing theory is instrumental in capturing those perspectives.

3.3. Research Question

Given current academic focus on state-centered policy approaches to peace and the call for a local turn in peacebuilding, there is a need to pay greater attention to, and explore peace processes from the perspectives of grassroots activists and their social movements. Additionally, framing theory – as understood within social movement scholarship – has not been commonly applied to explore the nuances of peace movements. This research aims to contribute to peace and human rights scholarship by illuminating how social movement activists frame fundamental ideas around issues for peace and justice. Korea offers a compelling site of study because of the unique nature of its cultural and historical setting that calls for an intersection of peacebuilding with the ongoing Korean War and historical relevance of the division of the Peninsula. My research questions are then:

- 1) How do Korean peace activists interpret the cultural and political landscape of hostile tensions on the Korean Peninsula?
 - a. How do these interpretations inform the social movement for peace between the two Koreas?
- 2) What relevance do these frames hold for peacebuilding and human rights in the Korean Peninsula?

4. Methodology

With these research questions in mind, the following methodology has been chosen. Framing theory has proven to be effective and insightful in revealing nuances in the landscape of grassroots politics outside of the limitations of realist and positivist approaches. Fuller and McCauley (2016) believe that "the political process of framing and the construction of justice claims" (p. 1) are important to examine in relationship to one another to better understand social activists and social movement organizations. Framing analyses can better "place the agents of such claims at the forefront of social movement research" (McCauley, 2017, p. 4). This is important in giving "voice to the perspectives of oppressed groups and analyzing their forms of resistance and the ways they understand their situation" (Cappialli, 2023, p. 213). In particular, social movements around human rights have actively relied on rights framing as a means to navigate transnational spaces (Keck and Sikkink, 1998, p. ix). Scholars such as Miller (2010) have applied framing tools to the narratives within human rights movements, proving the relevance of this constructivist approach to not only frameworks of injustices, but also to the rights that activists desire. In this study, I offer an exploratory interrogation into how Korea peace activists frame this movement for peace, and in particular, how the cultural context of Korean identity and the division of the Peninsula impacts their work.

4.1. Methods

Wide ranging qualitative approaches have proven to be of great use in studying social movements and the actors in those spaces (della Porta, 2014). With an understanding of the inherent constructivist nature of framing theory and analysis of qualitative materials, qualitative methods are an appropriate means to study this research question. I use semi-structured interviews which opens "access to a broader and more diverse group of social movement actors" (Blee and Taylor, 2000, p. 93). Interviewing methods are productive for framing theory and because they allow for a deeper "scrutiny of meaning, both how activists regard their participation and how they understand their social world" (p. 95).

I conducted semi-structured interviews with ten different Korean activists who shared their opinions with me on the history and demands of the social movement for peace in Korea. The 10 activists I interviewed are presented in Table 1 below.

Table 1: Participants

Aiyoung	NGO Chair, activist
Cathi	NGO worker, activist
Echo	NGO worker, activist
HK	Activist
Youngjoo	Activist
Pauline	Activist
Soobok	Activist
Yehjung	Humanitarian aid worker
Young Sun	Artist
Youngah	Activist

These activists are involved in various movement organizations based in South Korea and the United States ranging from humanitarian organizations like Korean Sharing Movement, to feminist organizations such as Women Cross DMZ, with all being grassroots focused. They spoke to me from their own individual perspective and not as official representatives on behalf of their affiliated organizations. However, in these interviews they still offered some insight into stances and positions of their organizations at times. Other than being identified as ethnically Korean, I did not collect demographic data on these activists as the aim of the research was to offer an initial assessment of the possible ranging themes that arise in their organizing work. That being said, the backgrounds of these activists ranged immensely in terms of age, gender, sexuality, and geographies. For example, some activists were born in the northern region of the Korean Peninsula at the end of World War II, while others are millennial, American-born Koreans. One activist lived in Germany at the fall of the Berlin Wall and experienced a state reunification. The vast differences in identity give even more depth and rich data in analysis. One limitation in the sample size is that I was unable to speak to any North Koreans involved in peace movement work on the Peninsula. However, I was able to interview several activists that

have North Korean family members, and one of my participants even lived in North Korea for two years starting in 2018.

These interviews were conducted virtually mainly in English, however, Korean was used at times in the introductions and endings of the interviews to build a more comfortable rapport. Participants were initially recruited through personal connections that I developed through my past organizing and advocacy work. And then, through snowball sampling techniques, initial participants introduced to me other activists that were willing to be interviewed for this research project. One other limitation in recruiting efforts is that my Korean is only at a conversational competency level, so it is not proficient enough for me to conduct interviews on topics like this completely in the Korean language. I did not have the resources to facilitate a translator for interviews either, so potential participants had to have a certain level of English which I recognize also limited my sample size. Additionally, I did not have confidence in my Korean language skills to fully communicate ethical research considerations to the participants and needed them to be able to express consent willingly in English to me.

4.2. Data Analysis

I turn to thematic analysis, in its most recent conceptualization as first articulated by Braun and Clarke (2006), for my tool to analyze these interviews. Thematic analysis is a qualitative method that researchers utilize to interrogate "participants' lived experience, views and perspectives, and behavior and practices" through "identifying, analyzing, and interpreting patterns of meaning" which culminate into themes. (Clarke and Baun, 2017, p. 297). A reminder that framing theory is "rooted in the symbolic interactionist and constructionist principle that meanings... arise through interpretive processes" (Snow et al., 2018, p. 393) and those processes, also known as framing, result in cohesive frames, or shared sets of beliefs around those meanings. Therefore, thematic analysis serves as a useful mechanism to identify relevant themes in my interview data which can then be further understood and constituted as frames.

With the understanding of the relevance of thematic analysis for my research question, I relied on the process offered and outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006; 2021). First, I sought to familiarize myself with the data by reviewing all computer-generated transcriptions of the

interviews. Because in the interviews, the participants and I would jump back and forth between Korean and English, I knew that the transcriptions would not be completely accurate. So, I then listened back to all recordings for the interviews and manually transcribed them. Translating Korean phrases that the participants used was also a helpful activity in fully engaging myself with this data. The next step was systematically coding the entire dataset by identifying key vocabulary and phrases that were pertinent to my research questions with color coded highlighting. From this stage I identified meaningful connections across codes that developed into initial themes. The following step involved reviewing these themes and testing if they coherently connected to my codes and to the research topic. It was in this stage that I interpreted several themes that had to be split apart. Refinement and naming of the themes came after, where I critically engaged with my themes and realigned several themes as subthemes under broader onse. It was in this stage that I perceived unique connections between these themes and Korean cultural concepts, which then informed my naming of two of them to Korean cultural terminology. The final step was writing the analysis of my findings.

4.3. Ethical Considerations and Positionality

Within social science research, numerous ethical issues must be given proper consideration for participants such as "minimizing harm, respecting people's autonomy, avoiding exploitation, and preserving their privacy" (Traianou, 2020, p. 86). Especially in fields of study like human rights and social movements, there can be risk to participants if they are expressing politically dissenting views in research that have to be mitigated with ethical practices. The need to negotiate with the inherent ethical issues in research such as potential risks for participants highlights the "unbalanced relationship that research establishes between the investigator and the research object" (Milan, 2014, p. 448). Thus, our own positionalities and privileges in the status of researcher become another central ethical issue that must be considered. Within this research project, questions of anonymity for participants and my own ethnic identity and past political activities became largely relevant in ethical considerations.

Anonymization is usually considered a standard practice of protecting participants in research and to maintain their confidentiality, however, this is "questioned on the basis that participants sometimes want to be named in research reports" (Traianou, 2020, p. 91). Scholars

have also "begun to question what they see as the default assumption of anonymisation of participants as a straightforward ethical good" (Pickering and Kara, 2017, p. 301). Feminist scholars such as Moore (2012) challenge this practice by claiming that it can be potentially a means of silencing the voices of participants. Gordon (2019) recognizes that "not fully crediting or attributing participants' voice can play a role in replicating experiences of marginalisation" (p. 544) and that when participants do reject "notions of anonymity... they are challenging unequal power dynamics between them and the researcher" (p. 549). Obviously there are situations that participants must be anonymized, and data collection itself should uphold these practices of anonymity and confidentiality. However, there are scenarios where it could be reasonable to allow them "a right to decide whether they are anonymized" based on the "specific cases concerned" (Hammersley, 2015, p. 441). If we respect a participant's agency to give free and informed consent to be researched in the first place, we can also respect this agency in their decision around ethical practices regarding them such as anonymity.

Regarding my own research participants, these are activists that are publicly open about their political dissent against government actions and about their involvement with social movement organizations. I also recognize if I were to interview activists in North Korea, ethical considerations would have to be much more nuanced as there are much greater risks for expressing dissent, particularly to a researcher coming from a Western institution like me. However, all the activists that I interviewed resided in South Korea or the United States which they fully understood as meaning fewer risks in openly expressing their opinions. With that in mind, I wanted to center their autonomy and allow them the choice of being anonymized or not in the writing. I tried to clearly express the nature of the research and the scope of where my dissertation would go so that they could make a fully informed decision. All of them chose not to be anonymized. I align with their decisions because I view naming them as a way to give credit to their voices and perspectives. Unequal dynamics of power in research are reinforced when "human participants are understood as sources of data" only, where participant perspectives are then seen simply as data which "becomes the property of the researcher, and the research relationship ends there" (Pickering and Kara, 2017, p. 300). This is not just my data, but also knowledge that is produced and constructed by other humans.

Contending with issues of ethics, such as anonymization standards, demonstrates the necessity for critical reflection on the researcher's positionality throughout the research process

in general when interrogating ethical considerations. Milan (2014) notes that "reflexivity... is a central axis of the research process, and a mechanism central to the ethical engagement with the realm of activism" (p. 448). Therefore, ethical considerations must be given thought regarding my own positionality as a Korean American with previous participation and involvement in the social movement that is the focus of my study. Often, academia assumes a degree of separation between the researcher and participants and the field of study, in this case the field of social movements, is "the only scientifically sound research, on the grounds that the observer is sufficiently detached from the object of study" (Milan, 2014, p. 460). However, a direct connection to social movements can provide "important incentives to produce more accurate information, regardless of whether the researcher is studying a favored movement or its opponents" (Bevington and Dixon, 2005, p. 190). Engaging with activists that are part of the same movement which I have been involved in fosters greater commitment to better research and accountability to the participants in avoiding exploitation. Particularly in data collection methods such as interviewing, sharing commonalities with my participants in identity, language, or political experiences "can facilitate access to a movement and promote trust and rapport necessary for collecting sound data" (Blee and Taylor, 2002, p. 97). Bevington and Dixon (2005) continue to argue that "the engaged researcher has more of a stake in producing accurate findings than one with no stake in the movement" (p. 192). My subjectivities and background can be "understood as a resource... rather than a potential threat to knowledge production" (Braun and Clarke, 2019, p. 592) when maintaining a critical practice of reflexivity. This is not a call for "blurring the boundaries between activists and researchers" (Milan, 2014, p. 452), but rather, affirming that transparently articulating my own positionality in a reflexive manner ensures more ethical proceedings and strengthened knowledge production.

5. Findings

As a reminder, 10 semi-structured interviews were carried out with Korean activists, who provided over 13 hours of rich and significant raw data and evidence. This evidence has been analyzed using thematic analysis. Through a step-by-step thematic analysis process, numerous codes were identified and developed as presented in Table 2.

Table 2: Themes

Han				
Legacies of Injustice	Significance of past historical traumas			
Resistance against American Influence	Current sentiment/resentment against the US			
Jeong				
Thawing Relations with North Koreans	Affirmation of a shared ethnic identity across			
	state borders			
DMZ	Contesting the border dividing the Peninsula			
Rights Talk				
Right to Self-Determination	Desire for Koreans to have more agency in			
	inter-Korean relations			
Censorship	South Korean National Security Law			
North Korean Human Rights	Problematizes human rights discourse on			
	North Korea			

I identified seven themes which coalesced into three overarching themes. These themes can be analyzed or understood as *frames* that seek collective action within social movement contexts. Themes are not just patterns found within content but have a purpose which is why they may be further understood as collective action frames. As my research question probes at frames that are constructed within the Korean cultural landscape of this social movement, it is fitting to identify them with cultural terminology bound in Korean language and identity. The two of the three frames I identified connected to key Korean concepts which are *han* and *jeong*. These require brief contextualization and then I will move into demonstrating how the themes are situated within these cultural frames. The third frame culminates into their interpretations of how human rights apply and are relevant to peace movement efforts in Korea. As stated previously, according to framing theory, frames are tasked with three core functions: diagnosis, prognosis, and motivational framing. I explore and identify how the broader frames I have identified operate within these given tasks.

5.1. Han

The Korean concept of han does not translate easily to a single word in English, however, it can be understood generally as a "collective feeling of unresolved resentment, pain, grief, and anger" (Kim, 2017, p. 254). It is considered an innate quality that binds all Koreans together in their collective ethnic identity and manifests in all aspects of society. Importantly, han is not just an abstract cultural idea, but a politically and historically situated sentiment that Koreans attribute to "centuries of suffering from wars, invasions, colonization, injustice and exploitation" (Jeong, 2018, p. 154). Koreans conceive of han as part of our heritage that is passed down through the bloodlines of all Koreans, transcending geographic boundaries and enveloping even diasporic communities (Kim, 2010). Han has been examined in numerous fields of scholarship pertaining to Korean society such as in psychiatry (Ka, 2010), literary analysis (Hyunsuk, 2019), and theological studies (Moon, 2014). The shared Korean feeling of han is not solely based in grief or "denotes not only the accumulation of wounds and traumas but also a hope to overcome them" (Yoo, 2022, p. 251). The modern interpretation of han can be seen particularly under Japanese colonization in the early 1900s (Kim, 2017, p. 258) and following the Korean War as a means to "reflect the oppression experienced during the colonial period due to political governmental authoritarianism, as well as Western imperialism" (Moon, 2014, p. 420). So, the frame of han goes beyond a general perception of injustice as it assigns this injustice to interventions by foreign powers which serves to strengthen a unified commonality of Korean identity. I found in my interviews that the frame of *han* encompasses two key sub themes: legacies of injustice and resistance against American influence.

5.1.1. Legacies of Injustice

While none of the Koreans I interviewed claimed *han* explicitly in their experiences in the peace movement, many evoked this sentiment of pain from historical traumas as a foundation for peace movement work in Korea. Firstly, many participants made clear this tie between current Korean social movements and the historical Korean resistances against colonial power – most evidently against Japanese occupational rule. This topic aligns within the sub theme of "legacies of injustice" under the *han* framing. Young Sun, an artist and descendant of North Korean refugees, reminded me that the current landscape of Korean society is premised on a

"culture...completely separated due to war and intervention by foreign nations, and after many years of colonization or occupation by Japan, Russia, the US". One of the interviewees, Youngjoo, had a grandfather that was an independence fighter in the Manchuria region during the Japanese occupation which has informed her presence in this movement. Another activist, Aiyoung, is the chair of the Women Cross DMZ organization, and was actually born in what is now North Korea, during Japanese occupation. She told me that her family had to leave Korea because her father "was unable to withstand that type of life" working for a "Japanese owned company. They owned everything as colonizer". This legacy of injustice around Japanese occupation is important to note in the history of colonization for the Korean people because this colonial rule solidified the call for a single state. Cathi, another organizer with Women Cross DMZ told me that so much complexity and conflict in the region "emerged out of Japanese colonial resistance and in that fight for nationhood or independence", soon strode in the superpowers post World War II – the Soviets and the Americans. Despite that brief era of liberation against the Japanese, according to Echo, another activist associated with both Korea Peace Now and Women Cross DMZ, "in September 1945, US came in, they lowered the Japanese flag and raised the American flag". Immediately after Koreans assembled a vision of a nation-state free from Japan, the Soviets and the Americans entered the peninsula leading to a division that was cemented by three years of war. Therefore, the violence of Japanese colonialism could never be addressed in Korea, which confirms an important characteristic of han which is that the suffering is unresolved. The unaddressed hardships the Koreans suffered under colonial rule are fundamental aspects of this framing.

Next, the interpretations by these Korean peace activists around the Korean War and the partition of Korea, I argue, are a continuation of *han* framing. Familiar themes of injustice and grief were expressed by these activists when describing the nature of the Korean War and division of the peninsula. Noticeably, all attributed the conflict to foreign powers that ignored the will of the Korean people. Yehjung, a South Korean humanitarian aid worker to North Korea, concluded my interview with her by stating, "the division of Korea, it was decided by superpowers, right? So there's the start of the misery in the two countries" The emotional pain embodies *han* in that it is a collective sentiment for Koreans and spurred on by foreign states. Aiyoung noted how her organization makes an explicit effort to honor this.

One of our focuses at Women Cross DMZ now is to acknowledge and recognize the silence, the buried fears and, and suffering that, our parents and the generation before us were not able to articulate, but which have, which have affected us invisibly through the generations. And it is a form of trauma and it is a form of insecurity and a form of worry, which we are carrying forward.

Again, highlighting that this sentiment of *han* – this unjust suffering – is carried on in Koreans which collectivizes us into a shared identity. Aiyoung continued to connect this pain to "being deprived of our sovereignty", that is, Korean sovereignty, and awareness that many Korean political struggles are tied to actions by foreign states. In this vein, Echo shared with me a prominent saying in Korean society, "the shrimp who got torn apart by two whales fighting", as indicative of Koreans' viewing their nation being torn apart by larger foreign interests. These activists expressed the pain and unfairness perceived from the division of the Peninsula and injustice that they felt within it. The historical violences that Koreans endured are framed as still presently relevant and centered in their peace activism today.

Cathi's frustrations regarding the partition of the Korean Peninsula were salient in describing how simply:

two mid-tier US officials in a room in DC drew a line using a map of Korea from National Geographic. Once I learned that it was these two guys who weren't even the Secretary of State or a comparably high-ranking position, — not that it makes it better — but I just feel like that really paints this picture. These two colonels drew a line and did this geopolitical parceling without consulting a single Korean... And this just short changes so much of the complex and layered legacies of Korean culture, history, political ideology that existed across the Korean Peninsula up to that point... but that division is not reflective of that.

These two officers are cited to be Colonel Dean Rusk and Charles Bonesteel, who allegedly used a National Geographic map in 1945 to delineate the territory the US would control and the portion that would be under Soviet authority (Jeong, 2018, p. 156). Around the event of the parceling of the Korean Peninsula into North and South, all participants expressed this feeling of

unfairness and lack of control in this partition which they voiced as a political endeavor forced upon Koreans by both the Americans and the Soviets.

For *han* framing, Koreans identified Japan historically, and more recently the Soviets and Americans as sources of this suffering. In particular, the US now plays a significant role in political relations with South Korean and the Peninsula as a whole. This leads to the second subtheme within the *han* frame.

5.1.2. Resistance Against American Influence

In the eyes of Yehjung, "the US influence on the Korean Peninsula is absolute. If the US really wants peace or reunification, I think that they can make an environment". While there was agreement among these peace activists that the US plays a critical role in addressing the conflict in the region, there was also consensus that the US has demonstrated very little incentive to alleviate hostilities and actually acts as an impediment sometimes. Cathi described how in the early 2000s, "US policymakers interfered and it was the US that wanted to slow down or to hedge on that peace process" between the two Koreas. Other activists like Young Sun concurred, pointing out how the US did not uphold its own end of the bargain for reducing sanctions against North Korea as assurances for denuclearization talks. Youngah raised another interesting example regarding denuclearization talks where some activists "think that North Korea's nuclear and ICBM development is result of US and South Korea policies. Because US nuclear policy, they didn't declare no first use policy". This "No First Use" policy that Youngah is referring to is the US foreign policy strategy on nuclear weapons promoting deterrence and non-proliferation (Sagan, 2009). Ultimately, with this approach, the US provides assurance that most countries in good standing will never be struck first by the US with nuclear weapons. Several countries have been excluded from this assurance though, namely China, Russia, and North Korea. Scholars like Sagan (2009) have argued that these types of stances from the US heighten risk and could actually promote proliferation as a perceived threat (p. 175). Even aside from the seemingly insurmountable question of nuclear weapons, Aiyoung viewed the US as an insincere diplomatic facilitator in the region when she said, "You can't hold out an olive branch and say, let's talk, we're ready to talk and then continue with the other hand, impose sanctions, travel bans, settle

our troops there". These instances exemplify that Korean activists view the US as a key actor and target in their social movement for peace in the Peninsula.

HK, also an organizer with Korean Peace Now, claimed that the US is not for peace or reunification because "the US wants in a way a status quo because they're fine just enough tension for rationale to keep the troops there to keep the funding there". Most of the activists named the US "military industrial complex" as a negative phenomenon that incentivized the US to increase militarization in the Peninsula for profit, leading to a perception of escalating hostilities and tensions. Youngjoo named this industry as a source of US unwillingness to support a Korean peace process. Quite blatantly, she said:

They want to sell weapons. I don't think the US government wants Korea to be united... because a lot of it's a weapon industry or gun industry. They're the ones making money... everywhere there's a war there are people who are making lots of money so I think they [Americans] play the same kind of thing to the Korea issue too.

This framing extends their critiques of US influence not just to political interference, but also to a lens of anti-militarism, which is a central theme in peace movement work (Galtung, 1998). So, resistance to the presence of the US can be understood as an extension to the general practice of peace activism against militarization and military power. This coupling became more cognizant when several of the interviewees brought up American influence on domestic Korean military matters. An example of this that came up often for the interviewees was around the impression that the US had great influence over the South Korean military. According to HK:

South Korea does not have control of its military, it is US... if you want real peace you want the separation to occur so that South Korean military can maintain the peace on its own vis a vis North Korea without interference or involvement of foreign troops.

The "intertwined nature of the militaries", as Cathi described it, acts as a source of injustice perpetrated by Americans that has to be resisted. Connecting this to the previously named "military industrial complex", it becomes clear that these activists do not trust the motivations

for the US having a military presence in the Peninsula and that this presence is against the will of the Korean people. Soobok, described to me these negative feelings of resentment and *han* towards the US when he once visited the DMZ:

US GIs are standing there. You know it's our country. That's not Korean territory, that's so called UN territory equals American territory. Humiliation. Unhappy, sad, humiliation, and any minute, not our will, via USA will, another war rekindled. We can't control.

In the case of the Korean peace movement, the monopoly control of the military is not by the South Korean government, but rather, by US power. Thus, *han* as an overarching frame in a social movement for peace identifies the injustices faced by the Korean people as connected to overwhelming presence and control by the US.

5.2. Jeong

Jeong is considered another unique concept within the cultural and historical identity for Koreans. Again, while it does not translate to another direct term in English, *jeong* can be described as an "affectional feeling tone underpinning relational ties... characterized by a strong sense of mutual altruism, attentiveness, empathy and helpfulness" (Yang and Horak, 2019, p. 399). However, "*jeong* exists even when you do not have a positive feeling... you still have *jeong* regardless of liking or disliking" (Yang, 2006, p. 286) meaning that it describes a deeper bond or unity to that person. Joh (2006) discusses how in Korea, these "relationships full of discontent" (p. 123) are sometimes labeled *mi-eon jeong*, and that "Koreans have a saying: 'It's better to have *mi-eun jeong* than no *jeong*' (p. 123). The deep communal relations in *jeong* – even through thick and thin – demonstrates a key trait Korean culture. Koreans give this sentiment great importance as they consider it to be the fundamental basis for relations between Koreans (Ka, 2010, p. 229). So, in a similar vein to *han*, this concept is another unifying mentality that connects all Koreans. Kwon (2001) recognizes that while *jeong* is very much a universal emotion shared in many other cultures, it is not easily understood by the Americans or Westerners that are entrenched in more individualized societies (p. 44). This concept has been studied, just like *han*, in numerous fields

such as educational curriculum development (Ryu and and Cervero, 2011), social work (Lee et al., 2018), and fashion marketing (Ko et al., 2011).

While this term is often in reference to the day-to-day types of relations, I hone in on the fact that "it is through *jeong* relation that Koreans find 'the Korean-ness' among the Korean race" (Kwon, 2001, p. 45), and extend this cultural concept to this political arena of social movements. With this understanding, *jeong* is seen as a very salient frame that the interviewees ascribed to in making meaning of their motivations to enter this movement work. I found that the *jeong* frame also contained subthemes: relations to North Koreans and questioning the DMZ as a border.

5.2.1. Thawing Relations with North Koreans

The unity and affection that *jeong* evokes became most apparent in the way that the participants expressed their connection to people living in North Korea. Pauline, another activist involved in Korea Peace Now and various LGBTQ Korean advocacy spaces, affirmed this framing with a reminder that "despite the 80 years of division of the Korean Peninsula, you know, the 40 years of Japanese colonial rule before that, there is still a consciousness of one Korean nation". By naming "one Korean nation", she is expressing the mentality of connection I referred to earlier that all Koreans feel towards one another, even if they have been divided into two different states. This consciousness that she spoke of is a driving factor in the call by many activists to support and center families that were divided by the Korean War and partitioning of the Peninsula. Youngjoo, who comes from one of these divided families, expressed how this was a large motivation for her involvement in the Korean peace movement:

So as a... divided family, I really wish that we have a reunification... we can go visit North Korea. And then North people... can come to South Korea. And then at least see people... before they die, right? Like meet their parents or children.

For Youngjoo and many like her family, Koreans that live in the US or South Korea have not been able to see family members in North Korea due to continued hostilities for many years. And for those traveling with a South Korean passport – and now a US passport – that opportunity has

effectively been shut down. When advocating for families divided across borders, these peace activists are inherently interrogating the contentious relations between states that trickles down into harms against the Korean people. Young Sun connected this issue of divided families to a greater Korean identity when discussing this desire of "wanting to be able to see their family members [in North Korea], of wanting to be able to heal the division... which is not even just about seeing family, but it's something spiritual, cultural, sort of this inevitable thing". This desire of reconnecting with family members in North Korea as part of a greater Korean identity grounds the *jeong* frame within this subframe of relations with North Korea.

Relations with North Korea are considered important to these activists because they perceive many negative stereotypes of North Korea that have to be dispelled as part of any effort towards peace. Aiyoung criticizes how:

They [Americans] have demonized North Koreans, as have South Koreans demonized North Koreans for decades through two generations... They were raised with a demonic picture of the North and the people in the North. Not just the leader, but that North Koreans are all bad.

Renegotiating the image of not just the state, but also the people of North Korea becomes a key topic for activists that addresses not the foreigners – in the way that *han* does – but amongst the Korean people themselves. *Jeong* serves as an overarching frame for this because of its utility in driving a narrative that despite being separated for decades, Koreans are still inherently connected through identity.

The negative imagery of North Koreans is also often situated within political ideology through the dichotomization of capitalist societies versus communist societies. Even Yehjung's humanitarian NGO, Korean Sharing Movement, suffered from this negative discourse because "even humanitarian assistance to North Korea is kind of helping communists in North Korea, in their eyes". Pauline noted to me that even aside from Westerners, many Koreans are "right-wing anti-communists who think that any negotiation with the DPRK is going to lead to complete capitulation" and will label "anyone who calls for engagement with North Korea, communist sympathizer". This discourse around North Korea that activists have to rebut would be classified in framing theory as a "counterframe" (Benford and Snow, 2000, p. 626) which is perpetrated by

"countermovement actors, bystanders, and state officials who oppose the movement" (Zald, 1996, p. 261) This anti-communist or communist sympathizer counterframe has marred many aspects of the peace movement, but Echo resists this counterframing when she said, "I don't think capitalism engulfing North is right or North Korea is engulfing the South with their system they is right either". This counterframe enlivens the *jeong* frame which attempts to resituate the movement away of the political binary. For HK, he sees the Korean peace movement culminating to a point:

where both sides respect each other and to try to find common ground, common vision for the future of Korea for future generations. How they would live side by side or together on the system that can be beneficial to everybody, not just one side.

Jeong offers a path for the peace movement to center around Korean identity as the motivating factor for advocacy rather than entrenching discourse in battles of political or economic ideologies.

5.2.2. DMZ

"Even *jeong* takes its shape from our relations with non-human beings, such as objects and nature." (Hyunsuk, 2019, p. 161). While Hyunsuk (2019) is referring to analysis of Korean literature around community conflict and building, this demonstrates the breadth and depth of *jeong* as a concept for Korean identity across various forms, such as with the relation to the territory of the DMZ. Discussions for the peace movement around connecting families or improving relations with North Korea inherently involve an understanding of the relationship to the border that is the dividing force. As a frame, *jeong* then interrogates the maintenance and role of the border in relation to the peace movement and these themes. For Cathi, she even contests the terminology of a border dividing the peninsula. She points out that rather than a border, "this is a zone that... has severed a people that were one people for centuries". In her eyes, the notion of a border cannot legitimately sever the *jeong* that connects Koreans as a unified collective.

In 2015, Aiyoung was part of a delegation of thirty women that organized a crossing from South Korea to North Korea and spent five days there engaging with North Korean women peace

activists. When reflecting on that experience, she described it as" we were women to women, people to people". She went on to realize, "oh my God, they're just like me. I'm just like them... I had never had that feeling before". The emotional connection Aiyoung formed with these other Korean women, in seeing each other as part of a shared identity across the DMZ can also be understood as developing *jeong* between Koreans. This transformative journey is actually what led to the creation of the NGO, Women Cross DMZ. While Echo was not part of this delegation that crossed, she is now part of the NGO and relayed to me the symbolic significance of this event. "They wanted to show to the world that DMZ is permeable. That DMZ is not a line that people cannot cross. But it is a line that we *can* cross". Sharing a similar sentiment, both Pauline and HK characterized the DMZ as "artificial" and Young Sun viewed it as a "spectacle". By contesting the legitimacy of the border between North and South Korea, these activists construct a reality where Koreans are actually unified and subvert the militant border making practice along the DMZ. Koreans reject the basis of the DMZ not only because of *han*, in the sense that it is an injustice inflicted by a foreign power, but also, because of *jeong*, that they are one people.

Returning to the quote by Hyunsuk, *jeong* framing depicts a relation among Koreans that can also be tied to the land and nature itself. One phenomenon that was highlighted by interviewees was the thriving ecosystems that had sprung out from DMZ territory. For Cathi, there is an "irony of the DMZ being such a place of nature flourishing and actually has so much life there, but is frozen geopolitically in time, but is not frozen in mother nature and the earth's timeline". The irony is pointed out by Pauline particularly that "the term, 'demilitarized zone' is hilariously ironic because it's actually the most highly militarized zone in the world". Young Sun's description of the DMZ as "spectacle" that is sold through "images of tanks and barbed wire" are contradicted when envisioning the true "lush ecosystem with a lot of fragile fauna that are thriving there at this time". This type of imagery of the DMZ seems to resonate with the peace activists because in doing so, it subverts the militant nature of this borderland and replaces it with an ecological nature to delegitimize the division. According to Joh (2006), "symbols of culture have no primordial unity or fixity" (p. 62) and can be "appropriated, translated, rehistoricised, and read anew". Rather than a military border partitioning the Korean people, there is simply a lavish ecosystem thriving in the middle of the peninsula.

5.3. Rights Talk

Through the process of thematic analysis, a review of the major themes (Braun and Clarke, 2006, p. 91) revealed a necessity to explore one theme adjacent to the two overarching frames of *han* and *jeong*. This theme regarded how the participants interpreted the relevance of different rights to aspects of the peace movement. This crystallized around three subthemes: the right to self determination, censorship in South Korea, and human rights in North Korea.

5.3.1. Right to Self-Determination

This subtheme of the right to self-determination was important to distinguish from *han* because the participants expressed clear sentiment around a desire for reclaiming ownership of their land that extended beyond the cultural concept of *han* which centered on the injustices. Soobok evoked this sentiment of self determination when saying that Koreans are "entitled to decide our fate... we have to make up our fate, our future, our happiness by ourselves". When discussing political goals in the Korean Peninsula, Cathi reminded me of her positionality as an American-born Korean activist and her hesitancy to make bold policy recommendations:

I'm not sure that the answer would be best served coming from me as a U.S. citizen... We certainly have a role to play in shaping and democratizing U.S. policies that affect other countries but we've run into so many problems in global history because U.S. citizens purport to decide best policy for other countries without centering the voices of those most impacted in those countries themselves".

Even as a Korean involved in the movement for peace on the Korean Peninsula, Cathi was centering self-determination of the Korean people living there.

This subtheme is also where reunification came to the forefront of the interviews. Young Sun connected Soobok's feelings of regaining control to reunification by reflecting that "when you reunify, you're giving more of that independence and control back to the Korean people to sort of have a say in their own destiny". Reunification in itself was not the aspirational goal for Young Sun, but rather, the goal is for Koreans to have an independent voice in the destiny of the Peninsula. Even for those that did not necessarily desire reunification, they recognized its role in

conversations for self determination of the Korean people. Yehjung was one of the participants and stated "whether we reunify or not reunify, that's up to us. That's what I believe, and that's the way to eliminate further misery in the Peninsula". For her, the misery that she referenced earlier under the *han* frame could be rectified not necessarily by reunifying the countries, but by gaining the agency and right to decide on that without the obstacle of foreign powers intervening. Reunification was the vocabulary used by these participants because it also allowed a consideration for extending this right to North Korea as well. Self determination did not mean reifying South Korea as a sovereign state, but rather, was an expression of a desire for Koreans in both states to have this control.

5.3.2. Censorship

However, this right to self determination was also not reflective of the participants' faiths in the government of South Korea. Not only do they perceive foreign powers as an obstacle to claiming this right, but they also commented on how the South Korean government itself was an impediment to this claim, most concretely through the South Korean National Security Law. Yehjung contextualized this law for me stating that in South Korea:

the enemy is North Korea in the law. And according to their law, to read or see North Korean contents is kind of illegal... and also if there is some situation in South Korean politics, they use this law to threaten people.

Youngah commented how this law is a violation of the right to "freedom of expression and freedom of thought. We cannot access North Korean information... The government suppressed civil society and peace activists". Historically, South Korea designed this law in 1949 right after the division of the Peninsula in the lead up to the Korean War as a supposed response to escalating hostilities and to protect the South Korean state. (Kraft, 2012). It has been maintained ever since under the premise that North Korea is still a threat to South Korea with the Peninsula still in a state of war. This law has been actively used to suppress political dissent in South Korea since its inception. In 1949 alone, over 100,000 Koreans were arrested under this law that were allegedly sympathetic to the North Korean state (Lim, 2006, p. 86). The National Security Law

historically has also used the death penalty as punishment for individuals that were considered leaders in organizing political dissent against the South Korean government (Kraft, 2012, p. 631). While capital punishment under this law has not been enacted for many years, the censorship practices continue and frustrate Korean activists.

Frustrations aired by the participants about the South Korean government's censorship laws were frequently connected to the first subtheme of a right to self-determination. According to Soobok, he believes that "we have to study DPRK. We have to understand, we have to get ready one day we reunite. So we have to understand DPRK. But current law prohibits it. It's ridiculous". Again tying back to the message around reuniting both countries, Soobok interprets reunification as an act of self-determination of the people. The obstacle here is the South Korean government impeding on that self-determination through violations of political rights.

5.3.3. North Korean Human Rights

The participants commonly voiced frustrations around the utilization and application of human rights as a tool and discourse in the region regarding North Korea. Specifically, several of them believe that intentions for addressing human rights violations committed by the North Korean state are influenced by this counter frame and wary of these messages. According to Echo:

many of the times what you hear from the North Korean defectors or the human rights watch, I don't think you can trust them 100% on what they say... HRW groups don't provide context, geopolitical or historical, which is important to understand the root causes of conditions that North Koreans face.

Youngah agreed with this sentiment when she said, the "international community deal with North Korea human rights to criticize North Korea regime. Not a way to improve human rights in North Korea". To be clear, none of the participants denied that human rights violations were being committed and acknowledged the brutality of the regime, however, they perceived an association of human rights rhetoric with punitive actions that obstructed peace between the two Koreas. Em (2021), describes how discourse on North Korea is often entrenched in a Western "securitization paradigm" (p. 120) that is dependent on old "Cold War epistemology" (p. 124).

Hong (2014) claims that this discourse leverages a "human rights imaging of North Korea" that is "directed toward regime change" (p. 565). These analyses aligned with the participants' interpretations of human rights in North Korea. For example, HK believed that "they're always narrow focusing on the human rights issue. And then they say... Destroy the government. Destroy North Korea government. The downfall of North Korea". They perceive that human rights are currently used as a continued escalation of hostilities in the region.

That being said, the participants did not outright reject human rights as a concept in the way that scholars such as Em and Hong have. Echo followed up her earlier comment on human rights in North Korea by saying, "by ending the war and bringing North Korea out of the seclusion, isolation, we would actually have better knowledge on their human rights conditions". These activists call for a reinterpretation in how human rights are used when engaging with North Korea that can promote dialogue around peace. Youngah also continued to say that "we have to change our approach dealing with human rights…we should deal peace on the Korean peninsula and we should think about ending the Korean War". Because both North and South Korea "limit individual rights in the name of national security" according to her, peace would be a productive avenue to promote rights across the Peninsula.

This subtheme then ties to the two previous subthemes in considering how human rights are recognized as relevant to the conversation of peace, whether it be in claiming self-determination or addressing censorship laws in South Korea. Ultimately though, these participants did not view human rights as the approach to address these subthemes and encouraged a lens of peace to discuss these matters. Aiyoung also described how she organized several meetings between members of Korean Peace Now and Tomas Quintana, who was at the time, the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the DPRK (North Korea). Their conversations, she told me, ultimately ended with a message that "peace is a requisite to human rights". This peace that she is referring to in practical terms is articulated as formally ending the Korean War and ending hostilities between the United States, South Korea, and North Korea.

6. Discussion

As a reminder, this dissertation set out to explore the following questions:

- 1) How do Korean peace activists interpret the cultural and political landscape of hostile tensions on the Korean Peninsula?
 - a. How do these interpretations inform the social movement for peace between the two Koreas?
- 2) What relevance do these frames hold for peacebuilding and human rights in the Korean Peninsula?

Thematic analysis has revealed three overarching themes — with various subthemes — about how Korean activists perceive the injustices that Koreans have faced historically and currently, and how to remedy them. Rather than interpreting themes simply as individual perspectives on "everyday dynamics of peace" (Mac Ginty and Richmond, 2013, p. 768), I situate these themes as frames that inform how activists then go about achieving peace. Framing theory allows me to interpret these themes within the context of a social movement for peace and what their purposes are.

6.1. Framing tasks

These peace activists operated through a frame of *han* which ties Koreans together in a shared injustice committed by foreign states which is yet to be resolved. The cultural identity point of this frame extends their movement beyond state boundaries and envelopes both South Koreans, North Koreans, and diasporic Korean communities. It is clear that *han* framing serves as a diagnostic tool to highlight the injustices that Koreans uniquely face and have suffered historically. Diagnostic frames, once again, are frames that organizations and individuals task with identifying the problem or injustice that has to be remedied for the collective group. These frames then attribute blame to an actor that is responsible for causing the problem. The unresolved aspect of *han* means that Koreans are victims of this societal issue which needs to be addressed and attributes blame to foreign powers as the cause of Korean suffering. Current responsibility is also then assigned to certain key foreign powers, in particular, the United States.

At first glance, the explicit criticisms of the US as an obstacle to Korean peace might be considered simply in line with traditional anti-American movements that have been seen before,

both globally and in Korean history (Kim and Lee, 2011). However, to attribute these comments simply as antagonistic against the US would be insufficient. While Kim and Lee (2011) acknowledge that these types of resistances are "often not solely about the United States" (p. 231), they fail to address the cultural and historical contexts that inform this sentiment in Korean activism. With a framing of *han*, a connection between the critiques of the US begin to align also with sentiments against the Japanese for their colonial violence on the peninsula. For example, Echo's quote, "the shrimp who got torn apart by two whales fighting", demonstrates historical frustrations with the influence of the Soviet Union as well in the political developments of the Korean Peninsula. This is also why it was necessary to split the *han* frame into subthemes of legacies of injustice and current resistance against American influence because of the temporal quality of the concept of *han*. The historical traumas of occupation that Koreans have suffered informs why Korean activists today perceive the current relations between the US and South Korea as an injustice in itself.

The next task for frames is the motivational frame that is the "call to arms" which offers the rationale for why people should engage with social movement organizations and movement work. This frame functions through this task which gives meaning to why Koreans feel compelled to address these issues of injustice as perceived by the diagnostic task of *han. Jeong* then becomes one of the "vocabularies of motive" (Benford and Snow, 2000, p. 617) for activists in the peace movement. Snow et al. (2018) also identify how "although the link between framing and emotions has not received the attention it warrants...the appeal to or use of emotion appears to be a central feature of motivational framing" (p. 397) which is most apparent in the ethnonationalist sentiment of *jeong*. More than emotions though as suggested by Snow and other scholars, "collective identity" seems to be the compelling reason that these Koreans desired to engage in peace movements. Framing theory on collective identity however designates the social movement as constructing the shared identity for participants in movements (Hunt and Benford, 2004). However, for the activists I interviewed, the cultural background had already shaped and informed their identity. If anything, the social movement for peace arises from this collective identity rather than the other way around.

Within psychiatric and pastoral scholarship on Korean cultural identity, Ka (2010) prescribes an interesting relationship between *jeong* and *han*, believing that *jeong* can be a helpful concept in addressing and alleviating psycho-somatic suffering that arises from *han*. This

same association can be seen in the frame of *jeong* by these Korean activists. More than a prescription though, these activists seem to claim jeong as a mechanism that energizes them to enter this space. The ethos of *jeong* motivates them to enter this space of peace activism which affirms their connection to other Koreans, particularly to North Koreans. So, their reasons for contesting negative imagery of North Korea is not bound in political alignment with communist or socialist ideology, nor is it quite explicitly in an anti-capitalist lens, but a cultural one. Jeong framing also informs why they contest the DMZ and state border between North and South Korea. The injustice that is the division of the Peninsula cannot legitimately sever the bond that is the Korean identity. Rhetoric on rejecting the border seems to parallel discourse around themes found in border abolition (Bradley and De Noronha, 2022). However, understanding jeong as a motivational frame shows that Korean peace activists use discourse on borders through a lens of cultural collective identity for participation in movement work rather than on motivations around migrant justice. The connection to other Koreans, across state boundaries, contests the historical construction of a border. Further research could examine how this perception could contribute to border abolition theories, but that is beyond the scope of this study.

Prognostic tasks are the third core task of collective frames which offer solutions that comply with the diagnostic and motivational frames developed within a social movement and its organizations. The motivational *jeong* frame naturally leads into the "rights talk" frame, which more concretely identifies solutions and actions that the activists believe will address the perceived injustices identified in the *han* frame. The subthemes in the "rights talk" frame naturally evolve into that solutions and demands. So on the subtheme of censorship in this frame, activists were calling for policies that would dissolve the South Korean National Security Law which was violating their rights to freedom of thought, speech, and political activities.

Discussions on North Korean human rights led into calls for greater normalization efforts by both South Korea and the US for engagement with North Korea. On the subtheme of self-determination, several activists believed that the end goal of reunifying the two Koreas would be a solution for reclaiming control over their land. But ultimately, formally ending the Korean War was presented as the most demanding and immediate solution moving forward which would address all three subthemes. Ending the Korean War would reduce hostile conditions that could contribute to normalizing relations between North and South Korea, embarking on a path for

realizing the essence of *jeong*. Without any formal peace treaty to replace the Armistice Agreement, the prolonged Korean War legitimizes violations of human rights in both North and South Korea. Ending the war would dampen discourse on national security and open opportunities to address the South Korean National Security Law. Youngah told me that a coalition of peace organizations have already collected 200,000 signatures calling for an end to the Korean War. They delivered this petition last year to the UN, US government and South Korean government.

6.2. Perspectives from the bottom-up

Diagnosing the basis for this social movement as a cultural bound phenomenon also implies that perceptions of peace are not based in universal ideals like that of human rights, but rather, from a point based in specific cultural identity. According to Hyunsook (2019), "Korean people attach more importance to the emotion and the mind than to the institutions and norms" (p. 173). Framing theory allows an analysis of peace processes for the Korean Peninsula through a lens that begins to ask what the injustices are perceived to be, rather than assuming what justice will look like for these people. According to McCauley (2017), "we should not assume the origins of injustice" (McCauley, 2017, p. 3), which are then dependent on preconceived theoretical notions of justice. Norms of human rights approaches and current peacebuilding practices are not assumed to be the answer or solution necessarily from the start. The call to focus on the local level in peacebuilding by peace and conflict scholars like Mac Ginty and Richmond reflects this value. However, even when peace studies, like Kang and Heo's (2023), attempt to redirect focus onto the perspectives of grassroots actors, they still claim that "peace is an architecture" (p. 769) that activists must still somehow fit into. So I would slightly disagree with Hvidsten and Skarstad (2017) when they argue that "peace research needs to (re-)ask the question 'what is peace?' for its own sake" (p. 113). Rather, the question should be moreso, "how do people define peace". Maintaining a theorized concept of peace at the center of the study falls into the limitation of ascribing a model of justice onto a people rather than building off of how these people theorize peace themselves. "Movement experience informs theory" (McCauley, 2017, p. 2) and shouldn't be the other way around. Bevington and Dixon (2005) also agree that "movement participants can and do produce such theory" (p. 189). The frames that I

identified from these Korean peace activists offer this needed insight into how Korean activists make meaning of peace in relation to the injustices of the Peninsula and how to respond to those claims.

Within the *han* frame, the activists I interviewed frequently associated these injustices with rhetoric around sovereignty and reclaiming control of their territory. Where human rights approaches infer obligations of the state to its people, these activists are fundamentally contesting what that state actually means in their frame of injustice. If anything, human rights rhetoric is perceived to actually obstruct and add to the escalation of conflict. This is why they believe current human rights instruments and tools do not address the actual root problems of Korean society. I return to Hyunsook's (2019) conclusion:

Although the political, economic, and social system in Korea has been very hostile to its people, the Koreans themselves wisely have not succumbed to these stark regimes but have succeeded in cherishing their own dignity and value as human beings (p. 173)

While this quote infers similar normative values claimed in human rights discourse, my data analysis shows that Korean peace movement frames are built upon more cultural identity work such as *jeong*. Even though human rights are a priority for the activists and their organizations, however, they believe that the maintenance of hostilities driven by the unending Korean War are the source of these human rights violations.

Nevertheless, as the "rights talk" frame demonstrated, human rights are still of value to these activists and they express the desire for rights to be applied both fairly and genuinely. The call for the local turn in peacebuilding has reflected a sharp criticism by peace and conflict scholars that identify "the possible incompatibility of post-conflict justice with the stabilisation of society and human rights" (Richmond, 2013, p. 292). However, by approaching peace from the perspective of the local actors, this theoretical division becomes blurred in practice.

According to Hvidsten and Skarstad (2017), the relevance of human rights to a movement is not necessarily whether activists explicitly "justify what they are doing by appealing to human rights – which is a purely empirical question – but also whether they are actually championing human rights" (p. 106). Therefore, while this social movement is described by activists as a peace movement, there is an intimate connection to human rights, whether it be framed culturally

through notions of *jeong*, or more explicitly in targeting oppressive laws in South and North Korea. The *han* frame function of identifying injustices on the Korean Peninsula as committed by foreign powers also explains the significance of the right to self-determination, as addressed in the first subtheme in the "rights talk" frame. Even though the activists never used this specific vocabulary, there were clear calls to it in expressing a desire for more control over the trajectories of inter-Korean relations away from foreign powers.

By exploring the interpretations of how Korean activists view their social movement, a conceptualization of peace begins to form. Historical accounts of Korean activism remind us that the "struggle to by people to build just peace in the Korean peninsula goes back to the independence movement under Japanese colonial rule" (Kim, 2019, p. 149). Peace for Koreans is not simply a matter of ending war, but part of a legacy in resistance against the colonial and imperial structures that oppressed them. That is why rights such as the right to self-determination became so salient in this study – peace is not an end in itself, but rather, a historically defined means to achieving an ideal of independence. Peacebuilding for Korean activists then becomes not only a domestic matter between the two Koreas, but also a mechanism to critique currently perceived hegemonies of new globalizing forces that present as neocolonial continuations of this history. Current liberal mechanisms of both peacebuilding and human rights structures have not encompasses this ethos and must account for that in order to genuinely and productively respond to demands by this social movement. International peace processes for the Korean Peninsula such as the "six-party talks" (Kwak, 2010), which require involvement from states like Japan and Russia, do not consider this sentiment and perpetuate a perception of both former and current colonial powers maintaining an undesirable influence over the trajectories of the Korean people.

7. Conclusion

In this study, I set out to explore the perspectives of Korean-identified activists in relation to their social movement work towards building peace in the Korean Peninsula. Through indepth interviews, I identified key themes that inform their views on issues ranging from historical events to notions of cultural belonging which culminated into three categories: *han*, *jeong*, and "rights talk". These three themes contained nuances that led to various subthemes

within each one. With the understanding that my interviewees participate in peace efforts through a social movement, I approached these themes as "frames" conceptually, which then identifies these themes as messages and values of the peace movement. In particular, I examined the tasks of these frames through their diagnostic function, motivational function, and prognostic function. However, these frames do not operate in siloes away from each other and interplay to present broader meaning and significance to understandings of the peace movement, nor are they exclusive to advocacy organizations that these activists are affiliated with. I found that there is a deep cultural element for these activists, not around an abstract conception of peace, but around a cultural connection to being Korean as seen with the *jeong* framing. This was seen across Korean participants that lived both on the Peninsula and in the US. Central to this cultural identity was identifying with the injustices enveloped in *han*. While universal principles may be relevant to their activism, a cultural bound value drives the peace movement forward. While there is not a singular message that the movement operates through, these frames are shared concepts which align activists both in their values and then in their goals.

The han and the jeong frames begin to answer the question of how do Korean peace activists interpret the cultural and political landscape of hostile tensions on the Korean Peninsula, by mapping out key aspects of the cultural landscape. Both han and jeong are grounded in core Korean concepts that do not translate well into the English language or into Western societies – as argued by Korean scholars like Moon (2014) and Kwon (2001). These cultural markers for identity-making are not bound by place and connect Koreans across geographies and diasporas (Lee et al., 2018; Kim, 2010). Han is a concept of resentment or anger that derives meaning from historical traumas which have caused unaddressed and unresolved suffering. Not only does it articulate a sense of injustice tied to Korean identity but does so by explicitly identifying the role of foreign superpowers. Jeong on the other hand, is a more uplifting concept which defines an unspoken love or comradery among Koreans and to the land. It complements han by centering the collective nature of identity, presenting an obligation of Koreans to support one another in the name of community and heritage. These elements of the Korean cultural landscape lay the groundwork and inform the political landscape that activists traverse in their organizing efforts.

The political landscape is sculpted by this cultural landscape. It constitutes not only interpretations of major events or crises on the Peninsula, but also the political discourse of the social movement. Political analysis of events like the Korean War, the partitioning of the Peninsula, and intern-Korean diplomatic affairs are intimately informed by cultural concepts like han and jeong. Han gives meaning to resistance against perceived liberalizing forces, interpreted as hegemonic productions by foreign actors like the US. They are considered antagonistic blockades which perpetuate the Korean War and maintain the DMZ, reinforcing a North and South dichotomy. Rejecting US led military alliances with the South Korean government affirms han and Korean identity. Jeong also then gives meaning to the calls for reshaping discourse on North Korean relations and resisting the maintenance of the border. These cultural concepts also give rise to political discourse in the shape of various human rights, whether they be rights violations or aspirational goals. Ultimately, a right to self-determination seems to be a driving theme that ties these rights together. Human rights violations on the southern and northern sides of the DMZ serve to impede aspirations towards a Korea that has a more democratic function.

The subquestion how do these interpretations inform the social movement for peace between the two Koreas serves to explore how these activists navigate the cultural and political landscape. I answer this question in Chapter 6.1. by analyzing the framing tasks of the two cultural concepts and political discourse on rights. Understanding how activists make use of these interpretations for their call to collective action clarifies the details of these landscapes. For example, by interrogating the han frame, I find that resistance to US interventions and the American military are not just ideologically driven political efforts, but part of a greater cultural task in broadly resisting foreign state actions.

Identifying major themes in the peace movement offers compelling answers to the last question, what relevance do these frames hold for peacebuilding and human rights in the Korean Peninsula? Exploring these frames serves to better understand the how Korean people want to build towards peace in the region. My findings show that the Korean peace movement is a resistance movement at the junction of peace, human rights, and sovereignty. The human right to self-determination appears to be the most compelling message thematically across the frames. While peace is a goal for their movement work, peace is not the end goal – self-determination is, whether that be reunification or another transformation of the two Korean states. In Chapter 6.2.,

I argued that pre-conceived notions of justice limit scholarship on peace and limit peacebuilding efforts. Ultimately, I found that peace serves as a mechanism to remedy injustice and is not justice in itself. Peace and justice are not at odds with each other, which has been previously considered a contradictory relationship in previous scholarship (Parlevliet, 2017). Peace serves as a strategic concept and goal for this social movement in order to achieve justice which presents as greater self-determination. Peace is also considered an important vehicle to addressing human rights violations in North Korea. International institutions that facilitate peacebuilding efforts were criticized by Korean activists for frequently using human rights disingenuously to perpetuate anti-North Korea rhetoric. Instead, the right to self-determination can be seen as a more compelling norm to work towards for peace processes to productively advance.

7.1. Further Research

My thesis affirms the calls found in new social movement literature (Buechler, 1995) and peacebuilding studies (Mac Ginty and Richmond, 2013) that a culturally contextualized lens must be central to any meaningful processes for building towards peace. Peacebuilding based on universal ideals of justice such as human rights cannot be generic step-by-step guides for procedures to peace, which have already proven to be faulty in practice as seen by the Kim Jung-Un's address to the Supreme People's Assembly last year (McCurry, 2018). However, I hesitate to offer my recommendations and return to Cathi's previous quote in Chapter 5.3.1: "that should not be answered by me as a U.S. citizen... we've run into so many problems in global history because U.S. citizens purport to find policy for other countries". The actors in the Korean peace movement have already offered a succinct set of demands which can be seen on their online platform: https://en.endthekoreanwar.net/.

However, my findings have shown there is a need to for continued research to better understand the connection between certain human rights and peace studies. Greater theoretical consideration must be given to the right to self-determination as a normative value to peacebuilding. This human right holds significant relevance to various topics in the Korean peace movement regarding issues such as reunification of the Peninsula and contesting of the border between North and South Korea. Further research into grassroots perspectives of this

human right would contribute greatly to the field of human rights in the potential applications for peacebuilding and border abolition.

References

- Alston, P. (1980) 'Peace as a Human Right', *Bulletin of Peace Proposals*, 11(4), pp. 319–329. https://doi.org/10.1177/096701068001100402.
- Amoore, L. (2005) The global resistance reader. London: Routledge.
- Bigley, J.D., Lee, C.K, Chon, J. and Yoon, Y. (2010) 'Motivations for War-related Tourism: A Case of DMZ Visitors in Korea', *Tourism Geographies*, 12(3), pp. 371–394. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616688.2010.494687.
- Benford, R.D. and Snow, D.A. (2000) 'Framing Processes and Social Movements: An Overview and Assessment', *Annual Review of Sociology*, 26, pp. 611–639.
- Bevington, D. and Dixon, C. (2005) 'Movement-relevant Theory: Rethinking Social Movement Scholarship and Activism', *Social Movement Studies*, 4(3), pp. 185–208. https://doi.org/10.1080/14742830500329838.
- Blee, K.M. and Taylor, V. (2002) 'Semi-Structured Interviewing in Social Movement Research', *METHODS OF SOCIAL MOVEMENT RESEARCH*, pp. 92–117.
- Bo-hyuk, S. (2014) 'THE MILITARIZATION OF KOREAN HUMAN RIGHTS', *Critical Asian Studies*, 46(1), pp. 3–14.
- Brada, J.C. (2023) 'Danger! Korean reunification in historical perspective', *Asia and the Global Economy*, 3(1), p. 100055.
- Bradley, G.M. and De Noronha, L. (2022) Against borders: the case for abolition. London: Verso.
- Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology', *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), pp. 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a.
- Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2019) 'Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis', *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(4), pp. 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806.
- Byman, D. and Lind, J. (2010) 'Pyongyang's Survival Strategy: Tools of Authoritarian Control in North Korea', *International Security*, 35(1), pp. 44–74.
- Buechler, S.M. (1995) 'New Social Movement Theories', *The Sociological Quarterly*, 36(3), pp. 441 464.

- Cappiali, T.M. (2023) 'Rethinking frame analysis "from the margins": A decolonial-intersectional epistemology to studying immigrants' rights claims', *Discourse Studies*, 25(2), pp. 210–219. https://doi.org/10.1177/14614456231155087.
- Chang, K. (2020) 'Independence without Liberation: Democratization as Decolonization Management in U.S.-Occupied Korea, 1945–1948', *Journal of American History*, 107(1), pp. 77–106. https://doi.org/10.1093/jahist/jaaa009.
- Chang, K & Lee, C. (2018) 'North Korea and the East Asian Security order: competing views on what South Korea ought to do', *The Pacific Review*, 31:2, pp. 245-255
- Choi, S. (2015) 'Love's Cruel Promises', International Feminist Journal of Politics, 17(1), pp. 119–136.
- Choi, W. (2007) 'FROM WAR TO PEACE: A PERMANENT SOLUTION TO THE KOREAN QUESTION', *International Journal on World Peace*, 24(1), pp. 7–17.
- Choung, E. (2021) 'A theoretical study on the landscape of the Korean DMZ and its spatial significance', *Inter-Asia Cultural Studies*, 22(1), pp. 16–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649373.2021.1886465.
- Chung, S.L.-W. (2011) 'Peace Movements in South Korea and their Impacts on the Politics of the Korean Peninsula', *Journal of Comparative Asian Development*, 10(2), pp. 253–280. https://doi.org/10.1080/15339114.2011.626639.
- Clarke, V. and Braun, V. (2017) 'Thematic analysis', *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 12(3), pp. 297 298. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262613.
- Cockburn, C. (2012) 'A State of Peace: Movements to Reunify and Demilitarize Korea', in C. Cockburn (ed.) *Anti-militarism: Political and Gender Dynamics of Peace Movements*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK, pp. 180–210. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230378391_8.
- Congressional Research Service (2018) *A Peace Treaty with North Korea?*, Washington DC: US Congress, Available at https://sgp.fas.org/crs/row/R45169.pdf
- Constitution of the Republic of Korea, -, 12 July 1948, https://www.refworld.org/legal/legislation/natlegbod/1948/en/19949 [accessed 22 March 2024]
- Cox, R.W. (1981) 'Social Forces, States and World Orders: Beyond International Relations Theory', *Millennium*, 10(2), pp. 126–155. https://doi.org/10.1177/03058298810100020501.
- Cumings, B. (2015) 'Getting North Korea wrong', *Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists*, 71(4), pp. 64–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/0096340215590794.

- della Porta, D. (ed.) (2014) *Methodological Practices in Social Movement Research*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198719571.001.0001.
- Em, H. (2021) "North Korea as Neighbor: Critical Scholarship on North Korea," Korea Journal, 61:3 (autumn, 2021): 112-146', *Korea Journal*, 61, pp. 112–146. https://doi.org/10.25024/kj.2021.61.3.112.
- English, P. and Murray, R. (2024) 'War and Peace, Freeze and Thaw: Regional Narratives of North Korea and the 2018 Winter Olympics', *Communication & Sport*, 12(1), pp. 170–187. https://doi.org/10.1177/21674795231163892.
- Escobar, A. (2004) 'Beyond the Third World: Imperial globality, global coloniality and anti-globalisation social movements', *Third World Quarterly*, 25(1), pp. 207–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/0143659042000185417.
- Fukao, K., Inui, T., and Kwon, H. (2017) 'The Economic Impact of Korean Reunification on Major Trade Partners: An Empirical Analysis Based on the World Input–Output Tables', *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, 53:11, pp. 2476-2504
- Galtung, J. (1976) 'Three Approaches to Peace: Peacekeeping, Peacemaking, and Peacebuilding.' In *Peace, War and Defense: Essays in Peace Research*; Vol. 2, edited by G. Johan, 282–304. Copenhagen: Ejlers.
- Galtung, J. (1998) 'The peace movement: an exercise in micro– macro linkages', *International Social Science Journal*, 50(157), pp. 401–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2451.00153.
- Goffman, E., 1922-1982. (1986) *Frame analysis : an essay on the organization of experience*. Boston: Northeastern University Press.
- Gamson, W.A. (1992) Talking Politics. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Gready, P. and Robins, S. (2014) 'From Transitional to Transformative Justice: A New Agenda for Practice', *International Journal of Transitional Justice*, 8(3), pp. 339–361. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijtj/iju013.
- Gordon, R. (2019) "Why would I want to be anonymous?" Questioning ethical principles of anonymity in cross-cultural feminist research', *Gender & Development*, 27(3), pp. 541–554. https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2019.1664044.
- Grinker, R. (1998) Korea and its Futures: Unification and the Unfinished War. Palgrave Macmillan New York
- Grzelczyk, V. (2019) 'Threading on thin ice? Conflict dynamics on the Korean Peninsula', *Asia Europe Journal*, 17(1), pp. 31–45.

- Gu, G. (2002) 'Critical international theory and the peace process on the Korean Peninsula Setting an alternative research agenda', *Unification Policy Research*, vol.11, no.1 pp.1-29.
- Hammersley, M. (2015) 'On ethical principles for social research', *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18(4), pp. 433–449. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2014.924169.
- Han, G.-S. (2018) 'Time to make two Koreas one again: Korean Christians' self-reflection and diakonia duties', *International Journal for the Study of the Christian Church*, 18(4), pp. 296–314.
- Hannigan, J.A. (1985) 'Alain Touraine, Manuel Castells and Social Movement Theory a Critical Appraisal', *The Sociological Quarterly*, 26(4), pp. 435–454.
- Harrison, S.S. (2002) *Korean Endgame: A Strategy for Reunification and U.S. Disengagement*. REV Revised. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt7tb7q.
- Hayden, P. (2002) 'A defense of peace as a human right', *South African Journal of Philosophy*, 21(3), pp. 147–162. https://doi.org/10.4314/sajpem.v21i3.31342.
- Hermann, T. (1992) 'Contemporary Peace Movements: Between the Hammer of Political Realism and the Anvil of Pacifism', *The Western Political Quarterly*, 45(4), pp. 869–893. https://doi.org/10.2307/448816.
- Hong, C. (2013) 'THE MIRROR OF NORTH KOREAN HUMAN RIGHTS', *Critical Asian Studies*, 45. https://doi.org/10.1080/14672715.2013.851152.
- Hvidsten, A.H. and Skarstad, K. (2018) 'The challenge of human rights for peace research', *International Theory*, 2017/12/06 edn, 10(1), pp. 98–121. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1752971917000161.
- Hong, S.-R. (2002) 'Reunification Issues and Civil Society in South Korea: The Debates and Social Movement for Reunification during the April Revolution Period, 1960-1961', *The Journal of Asian Studies*, 61(4), pp. 1237–1257. https://doi.org/10.2307/3096441.
- Hunt, S.A. and Benford, R.A. (2004) 'Collective Identity, Solidarity, and Commitment', in *The Blackwell Companion to Social Movements*, pp. 433–457. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470999103.ch19.
- Hwang, J. (2011) 'Getting Out of the Military-First Dilemmas: In Search of North Korea's Coevolution Military Strategy', *East Asia Institute*, 17, pp. 1–27
- Hyunsuk, L. (2019) 'The public sentiment of korean local community in bak gyeongni's land', *Review of Korean Studies*, 22(2), pp. 153–176. https://doi.org/10.25024/REVIEW.2019.22.2.007.
- Jeong, S. (2018) 'Mending wall? The war over history in South Korea', Review of International American

- *Studies*, 11(1), pp. 153–173.
- Joh, W. A. (2006). *Heart of the cross: A postcolonial Christology*. Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press.
- Jiyoon, K., Kim, K. and Chungku, K. (2018) *South Korean Youths' Perceptions of North Korea and Unification*. Asan Institute for Policy Studies. http://www.jstor.org.roe.idm.oclc.org/stable/resrep20667 (Accessed: 29 November 2023).
- Ka, Y. (2010) 'Jeong-han as a Korean Culture-Bound narcissism: Dealing with Jeong-han through Jeong Dynamics', *Pastoral Psychology*, 59(2), pp. 221–231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11089-010-0274-y.
- Kang, D.C. (2003) 'International relations theory and the second Korean war', *International Studies Quarterly*, 47(3), pp. 301–324. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2478.4703001.
- Kang, H. and Heo, J.Y. (2023) 'Where is the Ordinary? Understanding People's Engagement in the Korean Peacebuilding', *Peace Review*, 35(4), pp. 762–771. https://doi.org/10.1080/10402659.2023.2262674.
- Keck, M and Sikkink, K. (1998) *Activists Beyond Borders: Advocacy Networks in International Politics*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press. https://www.oapen.org/download?type=document&docid=642697.
- Kim, A.S. (2023). 'Marking the 70th Anniversary of the Korean Armistice Agreement: A Means to Peace', *International Journal of Korean Unification Studies*, 32(1), pp. 125-161
- Kim, D.J. (2017) 'Building Relationships Across the Boundaries: The Peacebuilding Role of Civil Society in the Korean Peninsula', *International Peacekeeping*, 24(4), pp. 515–537. https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1314762.
- Kim, D.J. (2019) *The Korean Peace Process and Civil Society: Towards Strategic Peacebuilding*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-97100-1.
- Kim, D.J., & Mitchell, D. (2022). Reconciling Divided States: Peace Processes in Ireland and Korea (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Kim, E.H. (2010) 'Home is where the han is: A korean american perspective on the los angeles upheavals', in *Asian American Studies Now: A Critical Reader*, pp. 80–98. http://www.jstor.org/stable/29766728.
- Kim, E.J. (2016) 'TOWARD AN ANTHROPOLOGY OF LANDMINES: Rogue Infrastructure and Military Waste in the Korean DMZ', *Cultural Anthropology*, 31(2), pp. 162–187. https://doi.org/10.14506/ca31.2.02.

- Kim, S. and Lee, E.S. (2011) "Dynamics of contention" in democratic Korea: The role of anti Americanism', *Korea Journal*, 51(2), pp. 229–255. https://doi.org/10.25024/kj.2011.51.2.229.
- Kim, S.S., Prideaux, B. and Prideaux, J. (2007) 'Using tourism to promote peace on the Korean Peninsula', *Annals of Tourism Research*, 34(2), pp. 291–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2006.09.002.
- Kim, S.S.H.C. (2017) 'Korean Han and the postcolonial afterlives of "the beauty of sorrow", *Korean Studies*, 41, pp. 253–279. https://doi.org/10.1353/ks.2017.0026.
- Kitschelt, H.P. (1986) 'Political Opportunity Structures and Political Protest: Anti-Nuclear Movements in Four Democracies', *British Journal of Political Science*, 16(1), pp. 57–85.
- Ko, E., Chun, E. and Lee, S. (2011) 'Korean Beauty in a Global Cultural Context', *Journal of Global Fashion Marketing*, 2(4), pp. 200–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/20932685.2011.10593098.
- Koo, D.W. (2011) 'Towards a Working Peace System on the Korean Peninsula: A Perspective on the Theory of Peace States', *Korea Journal*, 51(2), pp. 105-129.
- Kraft, D. (2012) 'South Korea's National Security Law: A tool of Oppression in an Insecure World', Wisconsin International Law Journal, 24(2), pp. 627–659. https://wilj.law.wisc.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/1270/2012/02/kraft.pdf
- Kwak, T.H. (1990) 'The Reduction of US Forces in Korea in the Inter-Korean Peace Process', *The Korean Journal of Defense Analysis*, 2(2), pp. 171-194. https://www.kida.re.kr/frt/board/frtNormalBoardDetail.do?sidx=707&idx=1784&depth=3&lang=en
- Kwak, T.-H. (2002) 'The korean peace-building process: An inter-korean cooperation approach', *Pacific Focus*, 17(2), pp. 5–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1976-5118.2002.tb00267.x.
- Kwak, T.-H. (2010) 'The Six-Party Talks and North Korea's Denuclearization: Evaluation and Prospects', *Pacific Focus*, 25(2), pp. 211–236. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1976-5118.2010.01042.x.
- Kwon, S.-Y. (2001) 'Codependence and Interdependence: Cross-Cultural Reappraisal of Boundaries and Relationality', *Pastoral Psychology*, 50(1), pp. 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010495016418.
- Kim, A.S. (2023) 'Marking the 70th Anniversary of the Korean Armistice Agreement: A Means to Peace', International Journal of Korean Unification Studies, 32(1), pp. 125-161. doi:10.33728/ijkus.2023.32.1.005

- Lederach, J.P. (1997) *Building peace : sustainable reconciliation in divided societies*. Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace Press.
- Lee, C. M. (2020), 'A Peninsula of Paradoxes: South Korean Public Opinion On Unification and Outside Powers', *The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*, pp. 1–67. https://carnegieendowment.org/files/2020 UBB final.pdf
- Lee, S.E., Casado, B.L. and Hong, M. (2018) 'Exploring experience and perspectives of foreign-born direct care workers in dementia care: Accounts of Korean American personal care aides caring for older Korean Americans with dementia symptoms', *Dementia*, 17(4), pp. 423–438. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301216647832.
- Lee, S.-O. (2023) 'Unraveling the frontier: A new look at the Inter-Korean border', *Political Geography*, 107, pp. 1–12.
- Lee, S. (2013) 'The Korean Armistice and the End of Peace: The US-UN Coalition and the Dynamics of War-Making in Korea, 1953-76', *The Journal of Korean Studies (1979-)*, 18(2), pp. 183–224.
- Lee, S. (2018) 'The Shift of Security Environment in Northeast Asia: The US–China Conflict and its Implications for Korea', *Journal for Peace and Nuclear Disarmament*, 1(2), pp. 352–362. https://doi.org/10.1080/25751654.2018.1542655.
- Lee, W. and Choi, Y. (2023) 'Examining Plogging in South Korea as a New Social Movement: From the Perspective of Claus Offe's New Social Movement Theory', *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 20(5), p. 4469. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20054469.
- Lee, W.-Y. and Lee, H. (2019) 'The Perception of the Integration of North and South Korea', *Historical Social Research / Historische Sozialforschung*, 44(4 (170)), pp. 293–307.
- Leonardsson, H. and Rudd, G. (2015) 'The "local turn" in peacebuilding: a literature review of effective and emancipatory local peacebuilding', *Third World Quarterly*, 36(5), pp. 825–839. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1029905.
- Lim, C.H., (2006) 'The National Security Law and Anticommunist Ideology in Korean Society', *Korea Journal*, 46, pp. 80–102.
- Jenkins, J.C. (1983) 'Resource Mobilization Theory and the Study of Social Movements', *Annual Review of Sociology*, 9, pp. 527–553.
- Mac Ginty, R. and Richmond, O.P. (2013) 'The Local Turn in Peace Building: a critical agenda for

- peace', *Third World Quarterly*, 34(5), pp. 763–783. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2013.800750.
- Maxwell, D. (2015) 'Unification Options and Scenarios: Assisting A Resistance', *International Journal of Korean Unification Studies*, 24(2), pp. 127-152
- McAdam, D. (1982) *Political Process and the Development of Black Insurgency, 1930-1970.* University of Chicago Press
- McAdam, D., McCarthy, J.D. and Zald, M.N. (1996) 'Introduction: Opportunities, mobilizing structures, and framing processes toward a synthetic, comparative perspective on social movements', in D. McAdam, J.D. McCarthy, and M.N. Zald (eds) *Comparative Perspectives on Social Movements: Political Opportunities, Mobilizing Structures, and Cultural Framings*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (Cambridge Studies in Comparative Politics), pp. 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511803987.002.
- McAdam, D., Tarrow, S. and Tilly, C. (2001) *Dynamics of Contention*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (Cambridge Studies in Contentious Politics). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511805431.
- McCarthy, J.D. and Zald, M.N. (1977) 'Resource Mobilization and Social Movements: A Partial Theory', *American Journal of Sociology*, 82(6), pp. 1212–1241.
- McCauley, D. (2017) 'Framing injustice in green criminology: Activism, social movements and geography', *Advances in Sustainability and Environmental Justice*, 20, pp. 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1108/S2051-503020170000020001.
- McCormack, G. (1982) 'The Reunification of Korea: Problems and Prospects', *Pacific Affairs*, 55(1), pp. 5–31. https://doi.org/10.2307/2756901.
- McCurry, J. (2018) 'North and South Korea to march under one flag at Winter Olympics 'peace games', The Guardian, 17 Jan.
- Melucci, A. (1980) 'The new social movements: A theoretical approach', *Social Science Information*, 19(2), pp. 199–226. https://doi.org/10.1177/053901848001900201.
- Miethe, I. and Yi, H.-Y. (2020) 'The German unification as a process of dominance culture and its implications for the situation in South Korean society', *Inter-Asia Cultural Studies*, 21(3), pp. 440–451.
- Milan, S. (2014) 'The Ethics of Social Movement Research', in D. della Porta (ed.) Methodological

- *Practices in Social Movement Research*. Oxford University Press, p. 0. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198719571.003.0018.
- Miller, H. (2010) 'From "rights-based" to "rights-framed" approaches: a social constructionist view of human rights practice', *The International Journal of Human Rights*, 14(6), pp. 915–931. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2010.512136.
- Moon, H. (2014) 'Genealogy of the modern theological understanding of han', *Pastoral Psychology*, 63(4), pp. 419–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11089-013-0574-0.
- Moore, N. (2012). The politics and ethics of naming: Questioning anonymisation in (archival) research. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 15, 331–340
- Morris, A. (2000) 'Reflections on Social Movement Theory: Criticisms and Proposals', *Contemporary Sociology*, 29(3), pp. 445–454. https://doi.org/10.2307/2653931.
- Murray, R. (2020) Constructions of good and evil: the Koreas in international news PhD Thesis, School of Communication and Arts, The University of Queensland. https://doi.org/10.14264/uql.2020.910
- Nagle, J. (2016) Social Movements in Violently Divided Societies: Constructing Conflict and Peacebuilding. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315716770.
- Nelson, L. (2003) 'Decentering the movement: Collective action, place, and the "sedimentation" of radical political discourses', *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 21(5), pp. 559–581. https://doi.org/10.1068/d348.
- Oneal, J.R. and Russett, B. (2001) 'Clear and clean: The fixed effects of the liberal peace', *International Organization*, 55(2), pp. 469–485. https://doi.org/10.1162/00208180151140649.
- Öjendal, J. et al. (2021) 'Introduction Peacebuilding Amidst Violence', Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding, 15(3), pp. 269–288. https://doi.org/10.1080/17502977.2021.1913006.
- Paffenholz, T. (2015) 'Unpacking the local turn in peacebuilding: a critical assessment towards an agenda for future research', *Third World Quarterly*, 36(5), pp. 857–874. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1029908.
- Park, E.J. (2022) 'The Restructuring of the World Order and a New Korean Peninsula System', *Korea Institute for National Unification*, 22(3), pp. 1–56.
- Park, I. H. (2020) 'The Korean Peace System after the Korean War: International Factors and the Current

- Significance', *International Journal of Korean Unification Studies*. 29(1), pp. 57–76. https://www.kinu.or.kr/pyxis-api/1/digital-files/63e4636d-e52c-4b81-8d70-12343140a9c6
- Parker, N. and Vaughan-Williams, N. (2012) 'Critical Border Studies: Broadening and Deepening the 'Lines in the Sand' Agenda', *Geopolitics*, 17(4), pp. 727–733. https://doi.org/10.1080/14650045.2012.706111.
- Parlevliet, M. (2017) 'Human Rights and Peacebuilding: Complementary and Contradictory, Complex and Contingent', *Journal of Human Rights Practice*, 9(3), pp. 333–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhuman/hux032.
- Pickering, L. and Kara, H. (2017) 'Presenting and representing others: towards an ethics of engagement', *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(3), pp. 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1287875.
- Richmond, O.P. (2006) 'The problem of peace: understanding the "liberal peace", *Conflict, Security & Development*, 6(3), pp. 291–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/14678800600933480.
- Richmond, O.P. (2008) *Peace in international relations*. (Peace in International Relations), p. 218. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203927335.
- Routledge, P. (1996) 'Critical geopolitics and terrains of resistance', *Political Geography*, 15(6-7 SPEC. ISS.), pp. 509–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/0962-6298(96)00029-7.
- Ryu, K. and Cervero, R.M. (2011) 'The Role of Confucian Cultural Values and Politics in Planning Educational Programs for Adults in Korea', *Adult Education Quarterly*, 61(2), pp. 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713610380440.
- Sagan, S.D. (2009) 'The Case for No First Use', Survival, 51(3), pp. 163–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/00396330903011545.
- Seo, H. (2009) 'International media coverage of North Korea: study of journalists and news reports on the six-party nuclear talks', *Asian Journal of Communication*, 19(1), pp. 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/01292980802618056.
- Shin, D. (2017) 'NORTH KOREA'S PERSPECTIVES IN ITS ARGUMENT FOR A PEACE TREATY', *Asian Affairs*, 48(3), pp. 510–528.
- Shin, D. (2020) 'Exploration on the Elements of the Korean Peninsula Peace Regime: From the Perspective of "Order", *Asian Journal of Peacebuilding*, 8 (1), pp. 133-151.
- Shin, G., & Chang, P.Y. (2004) 'The Politics of Nationalism in U.S.-Korean Relations' Asian Perspective

- 28(4), pp. 119-145. https://doi.org/10.1353/apr.2004.0006.
- Shin, H. and Smith, J. (2024), 'In threatening shift, North Korea moves to redefine relations with South', *Reuters*, 4 Jan.
- Snow, D.A. *et al.* (1986) 'Frame Alignment Processes, Micromobilization, and Movement Participation', *American Sociological Review*, 51(4), pp. 464–481. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095581.
- Snow, D. and Benford, R. (1992) 'Master Frames and Cycles of Protest', *Master Frames and Cycles of Protest*.
- Snow, D.A., Vliegenthart, R. and Ketelaars, P. (2018) 'The Framing Perspective on Social Movements', in *The Wiley Blackwell Companion to Social Movements*, pp. 392–410. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119168577.ch22.
- SÖKEFELD, M. (2006) 'Mobilizing in transnational space: a social movement approach to the formation of diaspora', *Global Networks*, 6(3), pp. 265–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0374.2006.00144.x.
- Suh, D. (2001) 'How Do Political Opportunities Matter for Social Movements?: Political Opportunity, Misframing, Pseudosuccess, and Pseudofailure', *The Sociological Quarterly*, 42(3), pp. 437–460.
- Tarrow, S.G. (1991) *Struggle, politics, and reform : collective action, social movements and cycles of protest.* [Ithaca, N.Y.]: Center for International Studies, Cornell University
- Thayer, M. (1997) 'Identity, revolution, and democracy: Lesbian movements in Central America', *Social Problems*, 44(3), pp. 386–407. https://doi.org/10.2307/3097184.
- Thee, M. (1997) 'Towards a culture of peace based on human rights', The International Journal of Human Rights, 1(4), pp. 18–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642989708406692.
- Tilly, C. (1973) 'Does Modernization Breed Revolution?', *Comparative Politics*, 5(3), pp. 425–447. https://doi.org/10.2307/421272.
- Tilly, C. (1978) From Mobilization to Revolution. McGraw-Hill
- Touraine, A. (1985) 'An Introduction to the Study of Social Movements', *Social Research*, 52(4), pp. 749–787.
- Touraine, A. (2002) 'The Importance of Social Movements', Social Movement Studies, 1(1), pp. 89–95.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14742830120118918.

- Traianou, A. (2020) 'The Centrality of Ethics in Qualitative Practice', in P. Leavy (ed.) *The Oxford Handbook of Qualitative Research*. Oxford University Press, p. 0. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190847388.013.12.
- Wit, J.S., Poneman, D.B. and Gallucci, R.L. (2004) *Going Critical: The First North Korean Nuclear Crisis*. Brookings Institution Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7864/j.ctt1gpcd97.
- Yim, H. (2024) 'North Korea's Kim calls for South to be seen as "primary foe", warns of war', *Reuters*, 16 Jan.
- Vaddi, S. (2023) 'Reconciliation and Peace Process in Inter-Korean Relations', *Peace Review*, 35(1), pp. 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/10402659.2022.2155036.
- Vahabzadeh, P. (2001) 'A Critique of Ultimate Referentiality in the New Social Movement Theory of Alberto Melucci', *The Canadian Journal of Sociology / Cahiers canadiens de sociologie*, 26(4), pp. 611–633. https://doi.org/10.2307/3341494.
- Yang, I. (2006) 'Jeong exchange and collective leadership in Korean organizations', *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 23(3), pp. 283–298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-006-9003-6.
- Yun, S. (1997) 'Democratization in South Korea: Social Movements and their Political Opportunity Structures', *Asian Perspective*, 21(3), pp. 145–171.
- Zald, M.N. (1996) 'Culture, ideology, and strategic framing', in D. McAdam, J.D. McCarthy, and M.N. Zald (eds) *Comparative Perspectives on Social Movements: Political Opportunities, Mobilizing Structures, and Cultural Framings*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (Cambridge Studies in Comparative Politics), pp. 261–274. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511803987.013.